
 

 

Leon County Research and Development Authority 

Board of Governors Meeting 

Knight Administrative Centre 

1736 W Paul Dirac Drive, Tallahassee, FL 32310 

Thursday, February 7, 2019 
11:00am to 1:30pm 

 
Agenda 

1. Call to Order 

2. Introductions 

3. Modifications to the Agenda 

4. Public Comment 

5. Approval of Draft Meeting Minutes, December 6, 2018 (Attachment A) 

6. Consent Agenda  

a. Executive Committee Report, January 28, 2019 (Attachment B) 

b. Treasurer’s Report (Attachment C) 

c. Monthly Financial Reports  

i. November 2018 (Link http://innovation-park.com/wp-

content/uploads/2018/12/11.18-Monthly-Report-Innovation-Park.pdf) 

ii. December 2018 (Link http://innovation-park.com/wp-

content/uploads/2019/01/12.18-Monthly-Report-Innovation-Park.pdf ) 

d. Investment Reports 

i. November 2018 (Attachment D1) 

ii. December 2018 (Attachment D2) 

e. IBR 19-01 HVAC Preventative Maintenance & Repair Agreement (Attachments E1-E4) 

Executive Committee requests ratification of its approval to award Informal Bid Request 

19-01 to the lowest bidder Engineered Cooling Services, Inc. (ECS.)  The authority 

received two bids in response to its request and ECS price is $13,797.48 per year, which 

was $482.52 per year less than the second bidder.  The agreement is for one year with 

Authority options for two additional one-year terms at the same price. 

f. Collins Building Renovation (Attachments F1-F3) 

Executive Committee requests ratification of its approval to issue RFP 19-02 for partial 

renovation of the Collins Building to allow for relocation of the Authority offices and 

Knight tenants, to begin developing programs, and to begin incubating companies.  

Renovations will include basic clean up and repairs necessary to get the lab ready for 

general use of one private lab, and a large shared lab. Renovations are expected to cost 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 1 of 126

http://innovation-park.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/11.18-Monthly-Report-Innovation-Park.pdf
http://innovation-park.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/11.18-Monthly-Report-Innovation-Park.pdf
http://innovation-park.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/12.18-Monthly-Report-Innovation-Park.pdf
http://innovation-park.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/12.18-Monthly-Report-Innovation-Park.pdf


 

 

between $60,000 and $70,000 for carpet, paint, ceiling tiles, repairs to doors, 

partitioning doors, kitchen plumbing and cabinets, and partition wall removal to create a 

large meeting room. A detailed furniture and equipment budget will be submitted 

separately but will not exceed $25,000. This amount was not previously budgeted and 

would come from reserve funds if approved by the Board. 

7. EDA Grant Status Update (No new information is currently available but will be presented to the 

Board if any changes occur prior to the meeting.) 

8. Innovation Park TLH, Inc. Non-profit Incorporation Documents (Attachments G1-G3) 

Executive Committee supports and requests approval of the Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws, 

and Organization Action documents, and direction to file documents with the State of Florida 

necessary to create the Innovation Park TLH, Inc. non-profit corporation. The documents as 

prepared differ from the direction previously given by the Board. Upon further review by General 

Counsel, the Authority did not qualify to create the previously proposed structure.   

9. Tech Grant Pitch Night Discussion 

As previously directed by the board, staff seeks input regarding how to better promote Innovation 

Park at the May 2019 pitch event to be held and Goodwood Museum and Gardens Carriage 

House.  

10. Strategic Plan Discussion (Attachments H1-H2) 

Staff have compiled the ideas presented at the December 6 strategic planning meeting, 

subsequent ideas submitted by board members, and formatted the attached draft as directed by 

the Executive Committee. Staff seeks further direction.  

11. Chair’s Report 

12. Staff Reports 

a. Executive Director (Attachment I1) 

b. Director of Entrepreneurship (Attachment I2) 

c. Director of Programs and Communications (Attachment I3) 

d. Property Manager (Attachment I4) 

13. New Business 

14. Adjourn 

Next Meeting: Thursday, April 4, 2019 
(Subsequent meetings held the first Thursday of even numbered months.) 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 2 of 126



1 

Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting 
Thursday, December 6, 2018 

8:00am to 4:00pm
Knight Administrative Centre 

1736 W Paul Dirac Drive, Tallahassee, FL 32310 

DRAFT Minutes 

Members in Attendance: Dave Ramsay, Anne Longman, Keith Bowers, Ray Bye, John Dailey, Paul 
Dean, Kristin Dozier, Rick Frazier, Eric Holmes, April Salter, Shawnta Friday-Stroud 

Members Not in Attendance: Kim Williams, Kimberly Moore 

Guests: David Pollard, Tallahassee International Airport; Ed Murray and Stephanie Shoulet, NAI 
Talcor; Cristina Paredes and Rebekah Sweat, OEV; Heather Cave, FSU Office of Research; Ron Miller, 
Michael Tentnowski, Denise Bilbow, and Peggy Bielby, LCRDA Staff. 

1. Call to Order
Chair Dave Ramsay called the meeting to order at 8:05am.

2. Introductions
All present introduced themselves.

3. Modifications to the Agenda
Ron Miller requested two modifications to the agenda, to be addressed under Other Business: 1.
Board approval for spending $2,500 for 2-page $10,000 ad in Site Selection magazine in partnership
with three others, and 2. Board direction regarding adding lighting conduit to the trail construction at
a cost of $26,000.

Keith Bowers offered a motion to approve the modifications. Ray Bye seconded the motion which passed 
unanimously. 

4. Meeting Overview
Ron Miller reviewed the meeting plan.

Business Meeting 
5. Public Comment

None.

6. Approval of Draft Meeting Minutes, October 4, 2018
Eric Holmes offered a motion to approve the October 4, 2018 Board of Governors meeting minutes.
Anne Longman seconded the motion which passed unanimously.

Shawnta Friday-Stroud joined the meeting at 8:10am. Kristin Dozier joined the meeting at 8:11am. 

7. Consent Agenda
a. Audit Committee Report, October 29, 2018
b. Investment Advisory Committee Report, November 8, 2018
c. Treasurer’s Report
d. Monthly Financial Reports

i. September 2018
ii. October 2018

Attachment A 
1 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 3 of 126



2 
 

e. Investment Reports 
i. September 2018 

ii. October 2018 
Anne Longman offered a motion to approve the consent agenda. Kristin Dozier seconded the motion 
which passed unanimously. 
 
8. Staff Reports: Information Only - No presentations made. 

 
9. EDA Grant Status 

Ron Miller reported that there has been no response yet from the EDA on the grant application. 
 
John Dailey joined the meeting at 8:15am. 
 
10. FSU Anthropology Lease Amendment 

Staff requests approval of the Second Amendment to the FSU Anthropology Lease Agreement in the 
Johnson Building.  The lease extends the term one year until July 31, 2020 and increases the lease 
payments 3% effective August 1, 2019 in accordance with the terms of the lease. 

Kristin Dozier offered a motion to approve the Second Amendment to the FSU Anthropology Lease 
Agreement. Eric Holmes seconded the motion which passed unanimously. 
 
11. Other Business 
Anne Longman offered a motion to approve staff’s request to spend $2,500 on the joint Site Selection 
magazine advertisement. Ray Bye seconded the motion which passed unanimously. 
After discussion, Ray Bye offered a motion to defer consideration of any spending on lighting conduit for 
the trail until further review. Kristin Dozier seconded the motion which passed unanimously.  
  

Strategic Planning Session 
 

April Salter joined the meeting at 8:55am. 
 

12. Speaker/discussion: Mayor John Dailey 
Dave Ramsay introduced Mayor John Dailey, who announced that he will be serving as the City of 
Tallahassee representative on the Authority’s Board of Governors and not appointing a representative. 
He discussed his vision for the city, and the city’s new approach to attracting new business and 
promoting and utilizing the assets already in place, with a focus on the Innovation Park and 
Tallahassee International Airport area. 

 
13. Speaker/discussion: David Pollard, Interim Director of Aviation, Tallahassee International Airport 

David Pollard discussed the airport real estate and development plans, and collaboration 
opportunities. He reviewed the airport master plan, foreign trade zone initiative approval, 
sustainability management plan, international passenger processing, customs and border patrol, 
parking and rental car return upgrades, and aircraft maintenance, repair and overhaul facilities. He 
reviewed the parcels available at the airport for development, the FAA restrictions, expansions that 
are currently underway, planned capital improvements, and FAA grant funding. 
 

John Dailey left the meeting at 9:40am. 
 
14. Speaker/discussion: Ed Murray, NAI Talcor 

Ed Murray reviewed the local commercial real estate market and how Innovation Park fits, preparing 
to attract businesses, mixed-use development opportunities. He reviewed the current capacity of the 
Park, and strongly encouraged an approach of “Ready, set, go” that allows real estate clients to move 
quickly to build. He reviewed current development plans for the Park area and vicinity and 
suggested various strategies and collaborations to retain current and attract new tenants. 
 

Attachment A 
2 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 4 of 126



3 
 

Shawnta Friday-Stroud left the meeting at 10:15am. 
 
15. Speaker/discussion: Cristina Paredes, Director, and Rebekah Sweat, Business Development 

Manager, Tallahassee/Leon County Office of Economic Vitality 
Cristina Paredes and Rebekah Sweat discussed OEV’s business attraction and collaboration 
opportunities, and OEV’s four targeted industries: Applied Sciences and Innovation, Manufacturing 
and Transportation/Logistics, Professional Services and Information Tech, and Health Care. 
Rebekah Sweat is leading business development in the applied sciences and manufacturing area. 
They reviewed employment, job growth and retention efforts, and reported on the Magnetics Task 
Force. OEV is attending the Magnetics Conference in Orlando Jan. 23-24, 2019. The Research on 
Investment (ROI) lead-generation team developed lists of qualified companies that may be looking 
to expand or relocate to the Tallahassee/Leon County area:  200 companies qualified by ROI are 
being evaluated by OEV. The ROI 3-year contract with OEV provides for 200 jobs in the first three 
years, and 50 qualified meetings. Site inventory analysis, branding, and collaboration with regional 
partners are planned.  

 
16. Where we are: 

a. Review of year-end 2018 financials, budget, future issues: April Salter and Ron Miller 
reported the year-end highlights from the unaudited financial statements: accounts receivable 
increased $58,000. Fixed assets changed $153,000. We have no long-term debt. There was 
$250,000 extra revenue and $18,000 interest income. Budget forecast was $127,000 and actual 
was $134,000. The $1.8 million for Collins will be expended over two years. IT Services, FSU 
Anthropology, NPS leases will end in the next years, and the DOT lease decrease of $100,000 
p/year begins 2022.  

b. Review of current strategic plan and progress: Ron Miller reviewed the plan progress and the 
status of each item.  

 
17. Typology of university research park strategies:  

Ron Miller reviewed and discussed the Journal of Engineering and Technology Management article 
“A typology of university research park strategies: What parks do and why it matters.”  The 2-
dimensional matrix: degree of specialization vs. the level of development services offered, and the 
four quadrants: matchmaker, gardener, landlord, coach, provide typologies of the different strategic 
positions organizations can adopt to ensure external fit (between the strategy and the environment) 
and internal fit (between the internal resources/capabilities and the strategy) to enhance performance. 
 

18. Research park market analysis:  
Denise Bilbow reported on industry trends, competitors both statewide and local, other local 
incubation / co-working resources, and keys to success. She provided a SWOT analysis and key 
take-aways.  

 
19.– 24. After discussion, four goals were agreed upon: 

1.  Construct and equip the incubator by December 31, 2020 and have 50 percent occupied by 
December 31, 2021 
2.  Asset maximization and readiness 
3.  Attract at least three new targeted private companies to expand/relocate to Innovation Park by 
December 31, 2021 
4.  Develop partnerships and collaborations in order to accomplish our other goals. 

Ron Miller identified additional issues to be addressed in the short term: What can we achieve with 
current financial and staff resources? What additional resources can we find to achieve our goals? 
What happens if/when lease revenue drops significantly? Is mixed-use development off the table for 
now? 

Attachment A 
3 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 5 of 126



4 
 

The Executive Director was directed to summarize the strategic plan goals, and provide a draft to the 
Board for consideration at the next Board of Governors meeting. 
 
Rick Frazier left the meeting at 3:28pm. 

 
25. Adjourn  

The meeting adjourned at 3:30pm. 
 

Next Meeting: 
Thursday, February 7, 2019 

11:00am – 1:30pm 
Knight Administrative Centre 
1736 West Paul Dirac Drive 

Tallahassee, FL 32310 
 

(Subsequent meetings held the first Thursday of even numbered months.) 
 

 

Attachment A 
4 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 6 of 126



 

1 
 

Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting 
Knight Administrative Centre 
1736 W Paul Dirac Dr 32310 

Monday, January 28, 2019, 2:00pm 
 

Report 

Members in Attendance: 
Chair Dave Ramsay, Immediate Past Chair Anne Longman, Member at Large Kristin Dozier, Treasurer 
April Salter. 
 
Members Not in Attendance:  
Vice Chair Kim Williams. 
 
Guests: 
Melissa VanSickle, Nelson Mullins Broad & Cassel; LCRDA Staff: Ron Miller, Executive Director; 
Michael Tentnowski, Director of Entrepreneurship; Denise Bilbow, Director of Programs and 
Communications; Peggy Bielby, Administrative Coordinator. 
 

1. Call to Order 
The meeting was called to order at 2:00pm. 
 

2. Introduction of Guests 
All present introduced themselves. 
 

3. Modifications to the Agenda 
Ron Miller requested that the committee address Agenda Item 8 first in the general business portion of the 
meeting, and that Agenda Item 7 be modified to state that expected costs are $60,000 to $70,000. 
April Salter offered a motion to modify the agenda as requested. Kristin Dozier seconded the motion 

which passed unanimously. 
 

4. Public Comment 
None. 
 

5. Approval of Draft Meeting Minutes, September 19, 2018 
April Salter offered a motion to approve the September 19, 2018 Executive Committee meeting minutes. 

Anne Longman seconded the motion which passed unanimously. 
 

6. IBR 19-01 HVAC Preventative Maintenance & Repair Agreement  
Staff requests approval of its recommendation to award Informal Bid Request 19-01 to the lowest bidder 
Engineered Cooling Services, Inc. (ECS.)  The authority received two bids in response to its request and 
ECS price is $13,797.48 per year, which was $482.52 per year less than the second bidder.  The 
agreement is for one year with Authority options for two additional one-year terms at the same price. 
Anne Longman offered a motion to approve the staff request to award IBR 19-01 to Engineered Cooling 

Services, Inc. Kristin Dozier seconded the motion which passed unanimously. 
 

7. Collins Building Renovation  
Staff requests approval to issue RFP 19-02 for partial renovation of the Collins Building to allow for 
relocation of the Authority offices and Knight tenants, to begin developing programs, and to begin 
incubating companies.  Renovations will include basic clean up and repairs necessary to get the lab ready 
for general use of one private lab, and a large shared lab. Renovations are expected to cost between 
$60,000 and $70,000 for carpet, paint, ceiling tiles, repairs to doors, partitioning doors, kitchen plumbing 
and cabinets, and partition wall removal to create a large meeting room. A detailed furniture and 

Attachment B 
Page 1 of 3

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 7 of 126



 

2 
 

equipment budget will be submitted separately but will not exceed $25,000. This amount was not 
previously budgeted and would come from reserve funds if approved by the Board. 
 
After discussion, the committee recommended that the Executive Director confer with the property 
manager to obtain a recommendation for an interior designer to assist in the selection of materials and 
finishes. The RFP should be included on the consent agenda for the next Board of Governors meeting. 
April Salter offered a motion to approval to issuance of RFP 19-02. Kristin Dozier seconded the motion 

which passed unanimously. 
 

8. Innovation Park TLH, Inc. Non-profit Incorporation Documents  
Staff requests approval of the Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws, and Organization Action documents, and 
direction to file documents with the State of Florida necessary to create the Innovation Park TLH, Inc. 
(IPT) non-profit corporation. The documents as prepared differ from the direction previously given by the 
Board. Upon further review by General Counsel, the Authority did not qualify to create the previously 
proposed structure.  Staff will provide further details at the meeting. 
 
Melissa VanSickle explained that at the June 7, 2018 Board of Governors meeting, the Board approved 
creating a nonprofit organization to facilitate the acceptance of charitable donations. General counsel 
initially pursued forming a 509(a)(3) supporting organization, but after research determined that 501(c)(3) 
nonprofit with a demonstrated charitable purpose of education (i.e., business educational programs and 
services) was the appropriate entity for IPT. The Innovation Park of TLH Articles of Incorporation, 
Bylaws, and Organizational Action documents were drafted accordingly.  
After discussion, Anne Longman offered a motion to approve the change of entity form and place the item 

on the general business portion of the Board of Governors agenda with the Executive Committee 

supporting and recommending Board approval. April Salter seconded the motion, which passed 

unanimously. 
 

9. Strategic Plan Draft Discussion 
Ron Miller explained that the outline provided by Ray Bye was a concise summary of the strategic plan 
points, and that the more detailed strategic plan draft, created by the Executive Director from the 
December 6, 2018 Board of Governors meeting discussion and follow up suggestions, would best serve as 
the action plan to implement the strategic plan. After discussion, the Executive Committee directed the 
Executive Director to group and map the outline items into four or five strategic plan points or “big 
picture” goals and include the detailed points in a separate action plan and present the revised items to the 
Board for its review and consideration. 
  

10. Chair’s Report 
None. 
 

11. Staff Reports 
a. Executive Director 

Ron Miller reported that a food truck employee reported a slip and fall in the Fuqua atrium restroom 
area. CNA is handling the claim. Audit Committee will meet in February or March, with Board 
approval in April. Paul Dean is the new committee chair. Trail permitting has caused a 3-week delay. 
Axion Technologies is leasing the Morgan lab, and IT Services extended its lease 2 months. Two 
Board of Governors alternates are retiring in 2019.  

b. Director of Entrepreneurship 
Michael Tentnowski reported that I-Corps, SBIR/STTR training sessions are planned. EEP starts 
April 9, FAS Grant, and mentoring collaboration/coordination with DOMI, JMS, other community 
partners. EDA grant announcement expected “soon.” 

c. Director of Programs and Communications 
Denise Bilbow reported that TechGrant finalists will be invited to join EEP which will be completed 
prior to the May 16 Pitch Night event. Tech Topics at the MagLab Mar. 6. MagLab Open House is 
Feb. 23. 

Attachment B 
Page 2 of 3

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 8 of 126



 

3 
 

 
12. New Business 

o EDA Grant press release: should be ready to go as soon as an announcement is made, be sure to 
include congressional partners who offered assistance.  

o Develop a relationship with Ken Lawson, new Executive Director of DEO  
o WFSU is always looking for content, and Anne Longman suggested a brief but regular/recurring 

Innovation Park spot: April Salter suggested “Tech Spotlight” and Michael Tentnowski suggested 
abundant content was available. 

o Kristin Dozier suggested re-establishing the relationship with the Tallahassee Democrat, and April 
Salter recommended meeting with Skip Foster and Byron Dobson in advance of the grant 
announcement and providing several related story angles re: Innovation Park and recent 
accomplishments other than the grant and provide a head’s up for the prospective grant award.  

o Kristin suggested the rebuilding of Innovation Park bullet points story: present to the Editorial Review 
Board a bullet list of tangible accomplishments to date/turn-around story. Tom Flanigan WFSU and a 
reporter at Tallahassee magazine are also interested. Be ready even if the grant isn’t awarded. 

 
13. Adjourn 

The meeting adjourned at 4:35pm. 
 

Attachment B 
Page 3 of 3

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 9 of 126



Leon County Research and Development Authority
Treasurer's Report

For the months ending 11/30/2018 12/31/2018
and the year-to-date through 12/31/2018 3 months thru

11/30/2018 12/31/2018
Operating cash  $       (67,396) (10,927)$        

Receivables 1  $         25,141 26,839$         

Property 2  $         11,800 4,163$           
Accumulated depreciation and amortization  $       (24,101) (24,101)$        
Investments  $           7,674 7,741$           
Total assets  $       (50,836) 21,684$         
Total liabilities  $       (34,966) 20,079$         
Total capital  $       (15,870) 1,605$           

2) Income Statement
YTD 

12/31/2018 11/30/2018 12/31/2018
Interest income 22,510$     7,402$           8,016$           

Net operating income (loss) 1 47,979$     8,231$           25,706$         
(before depreciation & amort.)
Less:  Depreciation & amort.       (72,302) (24,101)          (24,101)          

Net income (loss) (24,323)$    (15,870)$        1,605$           

3) Cash Flow Statement

11/30/2018 12/31/2018
Beginning balance 204,103$       136,707$       

Net change (67,396)          (10,927)          
Ending balance 136,707$       125,780$       

Operating Cash

2  11/18 Morgan Restroom Renovation; 12/18 Johnson compressor unit

Operating cash is adequate to meet current cash disbursement needs.  

1 11/18 included $11,000 Audit Fees

Month

1 11/18 FSU IT Services behind one month in November and additional month in December--
have contacted FSU regarding getting caught up; 

The following is a summary of the more significant items relating to financial position, 
financial operations, and the budget:

1) Balance Sheet

February 7, 2019

Changes for the month:
Increase/ (Decrease)

Note:   Year-end balances are prior to any GASB 68 or audit adjustments (if any)

Attachment C 
1 of 2

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 10 of 126



Leon County Research and Development Authority
Treasurer's Report

February 7, 2019

4)    Budget Comparison Statement 
a)    Revenues:

Actual 274,621$       
Budgeted 278,305         

(3,684)$          

Rent (683)$             
Interest income  2,866             

EEP program revenue 1 (1,400)            

Other program revenue2 (4,000)            
All other (467)               

(3,684)$          

b)    Operating Expenses (before Depreciation and Amortization):

Budgeted 266,717$       
Actual   226,642         

40,075$         

Payroll 9$                  
Utilities  (2,741)            

Repairs/Maintenance 1 27,138           
Cleaning & Improvements 1,165             
Services 684                

Property Administration 2 13,820           
Total Favorable Variance 40,075$         

Respectfully submitted,
April Salter, Treasurer

2. Audit (timing) $1.7k favorable; Professional fees $5.5k favorable, Travel $4.5k favorable

Variance Favorable (Unfavorable)

Variance Favorable (Unfavorable)

Operating Expense Variances

Year-to-Date thru: 12/31/2018

Revenue Variances Year-to-Date thru: 12/31/2018

Variance breakdown:

Operating Expenses Year-to-Date thru: 12/31/2018

1. Did not receive anticipated number of paying participants
2. FAMU SBIR/STTR program moved to March--grant funding

1. Phipps building painting not yet completed $20k.

Variance Favorable (Unfavorable)

Favorable/ 
(Unfavorable)

Attachment C 
2 of 2

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 11 of 126



For the Month:

SECURITY OWNED BALANCE BOM EARNINGS ADDITIONS DEDUCTIONS BALANCE EOM YIELD

FL PRIME 2,740,344.00$     5,485.51$      -$                    -$  2,745,829.51$         2.435%

SPIA 1,071,553.96       1,760.13        - - 1,073,314.09           2.000%

3,811,897.96$     7,245.64$      -$  -$  3,819,143.60$         2.281%

For the Fiscal Year Beginning October 1:

SECURITY OWNED BALANCE BOP EARNINGS ADDITIONS DEDUCTIONS BALANCE EOP YIELD

FL PRIME 2,017,629.13$     10,200.38$    718,000.00$        -$  2,745,829.51$         2.403%

SPIA 1,787,365.58       3,948.51        - 718,000.00 1,073,314.09           1.894%

3,804,994.71$     14,148.89$    718,000.00$        718,000.00$       3,819,143.60$         2.231%

SPIA Available Balance (see security description for minimum balance requirements) 214,052.33$            
Investments Designated for Capital Projects 1,400,000.00$         
Undesignated Investments 2,419,143.60$         

NOTABLE ADDITIONS OR DELETIONS TO ACCOUNTS:

Note:  Security descriptions shown on reverse

LEON COUNTY RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

For period ending November 30, 2018

10/18 Transferred $718,000 from SPIA to FL PRIME to take advantage of higher returns and expected continued rising interest rates; 
this was the maximum allowed liquidation from SPIA

Attachment D1 
1 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 12 of 126



SECURITY DESCRIPTIONS:



 SPIA – Florida Treasury Special Purpose Investment Trust – The Florida State Treasury operates a special investment 
program for public entities other than the State.  This program is authorized in Section 17.61(1), Florida Statutes and is 
called the Treasury Special Purpose Investment Account (SPIA).    Component units of the State, Universities, or Colleges 
that are created by the Florida Constitution or Florida Statutes are eligible to invest in SPIA. Current non-component unit 
participants, like the Authority, are allowed to stay in the program with capped investment limits and a minimum balance 
equal to 60% of the previous 3 months average balance. Liquidations in excess of the minimum balance require 6 months’ 
notice.  SPIA funds are invested in the same portfolio as Treasury funds, so the pool of funds has a stable base of funds (over 
85% of the funds are captive trust funds) not needed for immediate disbursement.  These funds are invested in a combination 
of short-term liquid instruments and intermediate-term fixed income securities.  This “barbell” investment strategy, along 
with incremental income produced by securities lending, has the ability to return higher yields than a typical money market 
fund.  Participants have the ability to invest and obtain fund withdrawals same day with an 11:00 a.m. deadline for notifying 
the Treasury.  The SPIA maintains a credit rating of A+f by Standard & Poor’s.

FL PRIME - SBA Florida Prime - The Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund (Florida PRIME) was created by an Act 
of the Florida Legislature in 1977 and currently serves over 800 participants across the state. Invests exclusively in short-
term, high-quality fixed-income securities rated in the highest short-term rating category by one or more nationally 
recognized statistical rating organizations, or securities of comparable quality. Seeks to maintain a $1.00 value and maintain 
a weighted average maturity of 60 days or less, with the maximum maturity of any investment limited to 397 days.  Rated 
AAAm by Standard & Poor's, the highest rating available for a local government investment pool. Complies with legislation 
that requires numerous operational and reporting enhancements, including restating investment objectives to emphasize 
safety, liquidity and competitive returns with minimization of risks; and providing for enhanced internal controls, 
transparency and communication. Federated Investors has managed the assets of Florida PRIME to the exact specifications 
of its investment policies since February 13, 2008.

Attachment D1 
2 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 13 of 126



0.00%

1.00%

2.00%

3.00%
12
/1
4

2/
15

4/
15

6/
15

8/
15

10
/1
5

12
/1
5

2/
16

4/
16

6/
16

8/
16

10
/1
6

12
/1
6

2/
17

4/
17

6/
17

8/
17

10
/1
7

12
/1
7

2/
18

4/
18

6/
18

8/
18

10
/1
8

A
nn
ua
li
ze
d 
R
et
ur
n

Leon County Research & Development Authority
Investment Yield

SPIA Annualized Return (Net) FL PRIME Annualized Return (Net)

SPIA 12 Mos. Moving Avg. FL PRIME 12 Mos. Moving Avg.

Attachment D1 
3 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 14 of 126



 $‐

 $500,000.00

 $1,000,000.00

 $1,500,000.00

 $2,000,000.00

 $2,500,000.00

 $3,000,000.00

 $3,500,000.00

 $4,000,000.00

 $4,500,000.00
12
/1
4

2/
15

4/
15

6/
15

8/
15

10
/1
5

12
/1
5

2/
16

4/
16

6/
16

8/
16

10
/1
6

12
/1
6

2/
17

4/
17

6/
17

8/
17

10
/1
7

12
/1
7

2/
18

4/
18

6/
18

8/
18

10
/1
8

Leon County Research & Development Authority
Investments Balances

FLGIT Ending Balance SPIA Ending Balance FL PRIME Ending Balance

Attachment D1 
4 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 15 of 126



For the Month:

SECURITY OWNED BALANCE BOM EARNINGS ADDITIONS DEDUCTIONS BALANCE EOM YIELD

FL PRIME 2,745,829.51$     5,981.24$      -$                    -$  2,751,810.75$         2.565%

SPIA 1,073,314.09       1,905.70        - - 1,075,219.79           2.088%

3,819,143.60$     7,886.94$      -$  -$  3,827,030.54$         2.478%

For the Fiscal Year Beginning October 1:

SECURITY OWNED BALANCE BOP EARNINGS ADDITIONS DEDUCTIONS BALANCE EOP YIELD

FL PRIME 2,017,629.13$     16,181.62$    718,000.00$        -$  2,751,810.75$         2.457%

SPIA 1,787,365.58       5,854.21        - 718,000.00 1,075,219.79           1.958%

3,804,994.71$     22,035.83$    718,000.00$        718,000.00$       3,827,030.54$         2.317%

SPIA Available Balance (see security description for minimum balance requirements) 357,452.25$            
Investments Designated for Capital Projects 1,400,000.00$         
Undesignated Investments 2,427,030.54$         

NOTABLE ADDITIONS OR DELETIONS TO ACCOUNTS:

Note:  Security descriptions shown on reverse

LEON COUNTY RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

For period ending December 31, 2018

10/18 Transferred $718,000 from SPIA to FL PRIME to take advantage of higher returns and expected continued rising interest rates; 
this was the maximum allowed liquidation from SPIA

Attachment D2 
1 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 16 of 126



SECURITY DESCRIPTIONS:



 SPIA – Florida Treasury Special Purpose Investment Trust – The Florida State Treasury operates a special investment 
program for public entities other than the State.  This program is authorized in Section 17.61(1), Florida Statutes and is 
called the Treasury Special Purpose Investment Account (SPIA).    Component units of the State, Universities, or Colleges 
that are created by the Florida Constitution or Florida Statutes are eligible to invest in SPIA. Current non-component unit 
participants, like the Authority, are allowed to stay in the program with capped investment limits and a minimum balance 
equal to 60% of the previous 3 months average balance. Liquidations in excess of the minimum balance require 6 months’ 
notice.  SPIA funds are invested in the same portfolio as Treasury funds, so the pool of funds has a stable base of funds (over 
85% of the funds are captive trust funds) not needed for immediate disbursement.  These funds are invested in a combination 
of short-term liquid instruments and intermediate-term fixed income securities.  This “barbell” investment strategy, along 
with incremental income produced by securities lending, has the ability to return higher yields than a typical money market 
fund.  Participants have the ability to invest and obtain fund withdrawals same day with an 11:00 a.m. deadline for notifying 
the Treasury.  The SPIA maintains a credit rating of A+f by Standard & Poor’s.

FL PRIME - SBA Florida Prime - The Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund (Florida PRIME) was created by an Act 
of the Florida Legislature in 1977 and currently serves over 800 participants across the state. Invests exclusively in short-
term, high-quality fixed-income securities rated in the highest short-term rating category by one or more nationally 
recognized statistical rating organizations, or securities of comparable quality. Seeks to maintain a $1.00 value and maintain 
a weighted average maturity of 60 days or less, with the maximum maturity of any investment limited to 397 days.  Rated 
AAAm by Standard & Poor's, the highest rating available for a local government investment pool. Complies with legislation 
that requires numerous operational and reporting enhancements, including restating investment objectives to emphasize 
safety, liquidity and competitive returns with minimization of risks; and providing for enhanced internal controls, 
transparency and communication. Federated Investors has managed the assets of Florida PRIME to the exact specifications 
of its investment policies since February 13, 2008.

Attachment D2 
2 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 17 of 126



0.00%

1.00%

2.00%

3.00%
1/
15

3/
15

5/
15

7/
15

9/
15

11
/1
5

1/
16

3/
16

5/
16

7/
16

9/
16

11
/1
6

1/
17

3/
17

5/
17

7/
17

9/
17

11
/1
7

1/
18

3/
18

5/
18

7/
18

9/
18

11
/1
8

A
nn
ua
li
ze
d 
R
et
ur
n

Leon County Research & Development Authority
Investment Yield

SPIA Annualized Return (Net) FL PRIME Annualized Return (Net)

SPIA 12 Mos. Moving Avg. FL PRIME 12 Mos. Moving Avg.

Attachment D2 
3 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 18 of 126



 $‐

 $500,000.00

 $1,000,000.00

 $1,500,000.00

 $2,000,000.00

 $2,500,000.00

 $3,000,000.00

 $3,500,000.00

 $4,000,000.00

 $4,500,000.00
1/
15

3/
15

5/
15

7/
15

9/
15

11
/1
5

1/
16

3/
16

5/
16

7/
16

9/
16

11
/1
6

1/
17

3/
17

5/
17

7/
17

9/
17

11
/1
7

1/
18

3/
18

5/
18

7/
18

9/
18

11
/1
8

Leon County Research & Development Authority
Investments Balances

FLGIT Ending Balance SPIA Ending Balance FL PRIME Ending Balance

Attachment D2 
4 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 19 of 126



Leon County R&D Authority

IBR 19‐01 Bid Summary

01/09/2019

Sum of Year 1 Vendor

Property Name Tony Kelley

Engineered 

Cooling Prior Contract

Collins  4,400.00 3,629.76 3,392.00

Johnson 5,600.00 6,290.00 4,516.00

Knight  480.00 270.52 636.00

Morgan 2,200.00 2,705.40 1,816.00

Phipps 1,600.00 901.80 1,212.00

Grand Total 14,280.00 13,797.48 11,572.00

Differences 482.52 2,225.48        

Attachment E1 
1 of 1

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 20 of 126



1

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

This Professional Services Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered into this 7th day of 
February, 2019 (the “Effective Date”) by and between the Leon County Research and 
Development Authority, a public Authority created pursuant to Chapter 159, Part V, Florida 
Statutes, having its principal place of business in Tallahassee, Florida (the “Authority”), and -
Engineered Cooling Services, Inc., a State of Florida Foreign Profit Corporation having its 
principal place of business in Pensacola, Florida ( the “Contractor”). 

WHEREAS, the Authority issued IBR Number 19-01 HVAC Preventative Maintenance and 
Repair Services on December 3, 2018, and;  

WHEREAS, the Authority wishes to allow for the Contractor to provide HVAC Preventative 
Maintenance and Repair Services independent of the Authority, and the Contractor desires to 
provide such services; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises hereinafter set forth, and for other 
good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, 
the Authority and the Contractor hereby agree as follows: 

1. SERVICES.  The Authority hereby allows the Contractor to provide the services described
in Exhibit “A” attached hereto and made a part hereof (the “Services”), upon the terms and subject
to the conditions of this Agreement.

2. TERM.  The Agreement shall become effective for one (1) year commencing March 1,
2019, and terminate on February 29, 2020, unless terminated in accordance with the provisions of
paragraphs 8  or 9.

3. OPTION TO EXTEND.  The Authority shall have the option to extend the contract for two
(2) additional one (1) year terms upon sixty (60) days written notice prior to the end of the then
expiring term and any extensions thereof.   This agreement may be extended in additional one (1)
year terms by mutual agreement of the parties.

4. COMPENSATION.    The amount of compensation payable by the Authority to Contractor
shall be based on the rates and schedules described in Exhibit “B” attached hereto and made a part
hereof.  Unless otherwise specifically provided in Exhibit “B”, payment shall be made within thirty
(30) days after receipt of Contractor’s invoice, which shall be accompanied by sufficient
supporting documentation and contain sufficient detail to allow a proper audit of expenditures
should the Authority require one to be performed.

5. COMPLIANCE WITH FEDERAL, STATE AND LOCAL LAWS.  Contractor shall, in
its performance of this Agreement, comply fully with all federal, state, county and other municipal
laws and regulations, as they may be amended from time to time.

6. INDEMNIFICATION.  Contractor shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the
Authority, its partners, officers, directors, shareholders, employees and agents (collectively
referred to as “Indemnities”) and each of them from and against all loss, costs, penalties, fines,
damages, claims, expenses (including reasonable attorney’s fees) or liabilities (collectively

Attachment E2 
1 of 17

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 21 of 126



 2

referred to as “Liabilities”) by reason of any injury to or death of any person or damage to or 
destruction or loss of any property arising out of, resulting from or in connection with (i) the 
performance or non-performance of the Services contemplated by this Agreement which is or is 
alleged to be directly caused, in whole or in part, by any act, omission, default or negligence 
(whether active or passive) of Contractor or its employees, agents or subcontractors (collectively 
referred to as “Contractor”) or (ii) the failure of the Contractor to comply with any of the 
paragraphs herein or the failure of the Contractor to conform to statutes, ordinances or other 
regulations or requirements of any governmental authority, federal, state or local, in connection 
with the performance of this Agreement.  Contractor expressly agrees to indemnify and hold 
harmless the Indemnities, or any of them, from and against all liabilities which may be asserted by 
an employee or former employee of Contractor, or any of its subcontractors, as provided above, 
for which the Contractor’s liability to such employee or former employee would otherwise be 
limited to payments under state Workers’ Compensation or similar laws.  The indemnity set forth 
herein shall be in addition to those indemnities otherwise provided by law. 
 
7. INSURANCE.    Contractor shall, at all times during the term hereof, maintain the 
insurance coverages as set forth in Exhibit “C” attached hereto and made a part hereof.   

 
8. CANCELLATION OR DEFAULT.  In the event the Contractor’s performance is deficient, 
the Authority shall notify the Contractor in writing of the deficiencies and the Contractor shall 
have ten (10) days to correct such deficiencies.  Should the Contractor fail to take appropriate 
action (acceptable to the Authority in its sole discretion) to correct such deficiencies, the Authority, 
in addition to all remedies available to it by law, may immediately upon written notice to 
Contractor by U.S. Mail terminate this Agreement whereupon all payments, advances or other 
compensation paid by Authority to the Contractor while Contractor was in default shall be 
immediately returned to the Authority.  Contractor understands and agrees that termination of this 
Agreement under this section shall not release Contractor from any obligation accruing prior to 
the effective date of termination.    

 
9. AUTHORITY’S RIGHT TO TERMINATE.  The Authority shall have the right to 
terminate this Agreement, in its sole discretion, at any time, by giving written notice to Contractor 
at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of such termination.  In such event, the Authority 
shall pay to Contractor compensation for Services rendered and expenses incurred prior to the 
effective date of termination.  In no event shall the Authority be liable to Contractor for any 
additional compensation, other than that provided herein, or for any consequential or incidental 
damages. 

 
10. TERMINATION OF PARTICULAR LOCATIONS.   The Authority reserves the right to 
terminate at will, any particular location(s).  Should it become necessary to add new locations to 
the Agreement, a new Agreement amount shall be negotiated to include such new location(s) and 
shall coincide with the existing Agreement terms. Should the Authority and Contractor fail to agree 
upon an amount to be charged for new location, the Authority reserves the right to award such 
location(s) as it deems necessary. 

 
11. STRIKES OR LOCKOUTS.  In the event the Contractor should become involved in a labor 
dispute, strike or lockout, it shall be required to make whatever arrangements that may be 
necessary to ensure that the conditions of the Contract are met in their entirety.  Should the 
Contractor be unable to fulfill the Contract requirements, the Authority reserves the right to make 

Attachment E2 
2 of 17

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 22 of 126



 3

alternative arrangements to insure the satisfactory completion of work Contractor is unable to 
perform.  Any costs, provided those costs would have been covered under this Agreement, incurred 
by the Authority as a result of such job action shall be the responsibility of the Contractor.    

Under no circumstances, shall either party be liable for any loss, damage or delay due to 
any cause beyond either party’s reasonable control, including but not limited to acts of 
government, strikes, lockouts, labor disputes, fires, explosion, theft, weather damage, flood, 
earthquake, riot, civil commotion, war, malicious mischief or act of God.  However, in connection 
with any causes, if the Contractor has a duty to take certain actions, it shall be responsible for the 
losses caused by the Contractor’s negligent acts or omissions.   

Under no circumstances, shall either party be liable for special, indirect or consequential 
damages of any kind including, but not limited to, loss of profits, loss of good will, loss of business 
opportunity, additional financing costs or loss of use of any equipment or property, whether in 
contract, tort, warranty or otherwise, notwithstanding any indemnity provision to the contrary. 
 
12. NOTICES.  All notices or other communications required under this Agreement shall be 
in writing and shall be given by hand delivery, by U.S. Mail, or by recognized overnight courier 
at the address indicated herein or to such other address as a party may designate by notice given 
as herein provided.  Notice shall be deemed given on the day on which personally delivered, or if 
by mail, on the fifth day after being posted or the date of actual delivery, whichever is earlier, or 
if by courier, on the date of receipt. 
 

To Authority: 
 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Attention: Executive Director 
1736 W. Paul Dirac Drive 
Tallahassee, FL 32303 
Email: rmiller@inn-park.com 
 
To Contractor: 

 Engineered Cooling Services, Inc. 
Attention: Brooks Brandewie, Senior Account Executive 
3739 Peddie Drive 
Tallahassee, FL 32303 
Email: bbrandewie@engineeredcooling.com 

 
13. MISCELLANEOUS 
 

a. This Agreement shall be construed and enforced according to the laws of the State 
of Florida.  Venue for all purposes shall be Leon County, Florida. 

b. The captions in this Agreement are inserted for convenience of reference and in no 
way define, describe or limit the scope or intent of the provisions of this Agreement. 

c. No waiver or breach of any provision of this Agreement shall constitute a waiver 
of any subsequent breach of the same or any other provision hereof, and no waiver 
shall be effective unless made in writing. 

Attachment E2 
3 of 17

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 23 of 126



 4

d. Should any provision, paragraph, sentence, word or phrase contained in this 
Agreement be determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, illegal 
or otherwise unenforceable under the laws of the State of Florida, such provision, 
paragraph, sentence, word or phrase shall be deemed modified to the extent 
necessary in order to conform with such laws or if not modifiable, then same shall 
be deemed severable, and in either event, the remaining terms and provisions of 
this Agreement shall remain unmodified and in full force and effect or limitation of 
its use. 

e. The filing of any petitions in bankruptcy whether voluntary or involuntary on the 
part of Contractor, shall give Authority the right to terminate this Agreement. 

f. No amendment, change, or modification of this Agreement shall be valid or binding 
upon the parties unless same shall be in writing and signed by the parties.  

g. This agreement, including all attachments and exhibits thereto, constitutes the full 
agreement of the parties and there are no further or other agreements, statements or 
warranties, whether written or oral, relied upon or in between them relating to the 
subject matter hereof, except as expressly herein stated.  This Agreement shall inure 
to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties, their successors and assigns. 

h. This Agreement shall not be assigned by Contractor, in whole or in part, without 
the prior written consent of the Authority, which may be withheld or conditioned, 
in the Authority’s sole discretion, and any such purported assignment in breach of 
this Agreement shall be null and void.  The Authority reserves the right to assign 
this Agreement without first obtaining the consent of Contractor.   

i. The prevailing party in any action or proceeding to enforce this Agreement or for 
damages or declaratory relief in connection herewith shall be entitled to recover its 
reasonable costs and expenses, including attorney’s fees, and costs through 
litigation, all appeals and any bankruptcy proceedings.  Authority’s liability to pay 
such costs and expenses shall be limited to the extent provided in Section 768.28 
Florida Statutes, as may be amended from time to time.  Nothing herein shall be 
construed to be a waiver of Authority’s sovereign immunity. 

j. Contractor shall be an independent contractor and not an employee, partner or joint 
venture of Authority under this Agreement.  Contractor shall be responsible for all 
income taxes, social security taxes, self-employment taxes and any other taxes to 
which Contractor or Authority may be subject to as a result of this Agreement or 
Contractor’s performance hereunder. 

k. Contractor shall comply with all Authority rules and regulations, as they may be 
amended from time to time, governing access to and conduct on the property. 

 

Attachment E2 
4 of 17

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 24 of 126



Attachment E2 
5 of 17

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 25 of 126



 6

 
EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 

 
 

1. INTENT 
The purpose of this contract is to provide the Authority with preventative maintenance and repair 
service for Heating, Ventilating, and Air Conditioning Systems in Innovation Park. 
 

2. LABOR AND MATERIALS 
The Contractor, at its sole cost, shall furnish all labor, materials for preventative maintenance, tools, 
transportation, payroll, taxes, insurance, sales taxes, equipment, permits and fees necessary to 
properly perform all services according to the specifications set forth in this agreement.  The 
Authority assumes no responsibility for equipment, tools, materials or any other items used in the 
performance of Contractor’s work.  This shall include any stored materials and supplies, if any.  The 
Contractor is solely responsible for the handling of any items necessary for it to perform its work. 
 

3. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTORS 
Contractor will not be allowed to treat employees as independent contractors. No individuals or 
subcontractors classified as independent contractors, pursuant to the United States Internal Revenue 
Service definition, shall be permitted to work on any part of this contract, or in or on the premises of 
any Authority building, as an express term and condition of this bid. Contractor shall accept full 
responsibility for ensuring that adequate Worker's Compensation Insurance is available for each of 
his employees.  

 
4. SAFETY 

The Contractor shall, prior to commencing work, thoroughly examine and become familiar with the 
system(s) and associated facilities to ensure the service can be completed in an orderly, safe manner. 
In addition, the Contractor shall maintain a safe work environment at all times. The technician shall 
report immediately to the Authority’s Property Manager or designee the existence of unsafe 
condition(s) which will compromise the performance of service. Safety will be the sole responsibility 
of the Contractor. The Contractor shall take all necessary precautions for the safety of Contractor’s 
employees and the general public and shall erect and properly maintain at all times all necessary 
facility safeguards for the protection of the Contractor’s employees and the general public. If 
necessary, the Contractor shall post signs warning against hazards in and around the work site. 
 
The Contractor shall provide all of the necessary equipment and tools required to perform the services 
of this contract. The equipment and tools shall be well maintained, calibrated, and in proper working 
order before use in the performance of the service. 
 
The Contractor shall maintain documentation that all employees have been trained in appropriate 
safety measures to ensure Contractor’s employees are performing their work in a safe manner. 
 

5. PERSONNEL 
a. Contract Manager 

Contractor shall arrange for a contract manager (which may be the Contractor himself) and an 
alternate to be the primary contacts for services. The contract manager or alternate must 
respond within 30 minutes. 

 
The contract manager will receive notices, reports, or requests for service from the Property 
Manager of the Authority or her representative, (herein after referred to as the “Property 

Attachment E2 
6 of 17

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 26 of 126



 7

Manager”) and shall be available at all times when the contract work is in progress. It is the 
policy of the Authority that Authority direction or supervision of Contractor’s employees, 
directly or indirectly, shall not be exercised. 

 
b. Employees 

All employees assigned by the Contractor to perform the work as outlined under this contract 
shall be physically able to do their assigned work. It shall be the Contractor’s responsibility to 
ensure that all employees meet the physical standards to perform the work assigned.   

 
6. ACCESS TO LOCATIONS 

Contractor’s staff must wear photo identification displaying the company name and employee name 
on their person when performing work at any buildings.  All personnel or agents or the contractor 
must observe all rules and regulations in effect at the buildings.  
 
Employees or agents of the contractor, while on Authority property, shall be subject to the control of 
the Authority, but under no circumstances shall persons be deemed to be employees or agents of the 
Authority. 
 

7. INVOICING  
An invoice will be generated after each Preventative Maintenance service has been performed. 
Invoices for Preventative Maintenance and associated materials shall be billed at the applicable 
contract rates of which shall not be exceeded.   
 
Each service call or additional work request shall generate a separate invoice detailing the labor 
charge and the parts and materials. 
 
All invoices must be separated by building and include description of service performed. 
 
Each invoice shall have attached a final service report referencing all service activity performed 
including the date, hours worked, and type of work performed.  
 

8. CONTRACTOR CLIENT MANAGER 
The contractor shall assign one responsible managing employee to act as the Authority’s client 
manager. This client manager shall be assigned to the Authority as requested and provide reporting as 
described herein. 
 
Upon request, client manager shall meet with the Authority’s Property Manager or designee to review 
all open work, service reports and any proactive recommendations by the contractor.   Contractor 
shall not invoice for time spent at these meetings. 
 

9. MATERIAL SAFETY DATA SHEET  
Contractor shall supply MSDS for all products to be used on site prior to start of work and in sufficient 
time to allow notice to be posted at buildings. 
 

10. INVENTORY  
Contractor shall maintain an adequate inventory of commonly used replacement parts/ equipment, 
service tools within the contractor’s warehouse, or service vans, in order that emergency repairs can be 
made to Authority equipment at once with a minimum of shut down time. 
 

11. PREVENTATIVE MAINTENANCE SERVICES 
The Contractor shall furnish all air filters, belts, lubricants, condensate pan tablets quarterly at no 
additional cost. All other replacement parts shall be procured according to the “REPAIRS” provisions 

Attachment E2 
7 of 17

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 27 of 126



 8

in these specifications.  All repairs during inspections in excess of $250.00 will require the prior 
approval of the Authority’s Property Manager or designee.  This contract will cover all HVAC 
equipment maintained by the Authority in the below listed buildings. 
 
 

 PROPERTY 
NAME 

PROPERTY 
ADDRESS 

1 Collins Building 2051 E Paul Dirac Dr 

2 
Knight 

Administration 
Centre 

1736 W Paul Dirac Dr 

3 Johnson 2035 E Paul Dirac Dr 

4 Morgan 2035 E Paul Dirac Dr 

5 Phipps 2007 E Paul Dirac Dr 

 
a. Quarterly Preventative Maintenance Services 

At the inception of each contract year, the Contractor shall establish with the Authority’s 
Property Manager a schedule for each quarterly preventative maintenance to be performed. 
Services shall be scheduled 3 months apart with variation of no more or less than one week. 
Changes to scheduled maintenance must be approved by the Authority’s Property Manager.  
The following shall be performed at each quarterly preventative maintenance service:  

i. Replace air filters.  Filters shall have a MERV rating of 9 or higher. 
ii. Check overall operation of system 

iii. Check and adjust belts and replace belts, as needed 
iv. Flush drain lines 
v. Check all ductwork for loose or broken connections, repair any abnormalities found, and 

record work performed 
vi. Check all damper motors for proper stroke, adjust as required to insure proper operation 

with no binding 
vii. Check all linkages, adjust as needed and replace badly worn units 

viii. Clean all debris from equipment housing 
ix. Check all motors and compressors for proper voltage and amperage draw 
x. Lubricate all motors and bearings as required, check bearings for noise, fan blades for 

clearance, etc. 
xi. Check condensate drain, pans and piping 

xii. Check and adjust, as necessary, all equipment controls and safeties for proper operation 
including but not limited to thermostats, relays, line starters, control coils, freeze stats, 
fire stats, fan cycling switches, and high- and low-pressure cutouts 

xiii. Check and tighten all electrical connections blow out control cabinets with compressed 
air 

xiv. Vacuum filter section, as needed 
xv. Check heating equipment and adjust as necessary 

xvi. Check amperage on heater elements and fan motor against rated amperages 
xvii. Check for plugged strainers or nozzles and clean as necessary  

xviii. Check refrigerant charge and record temperature, if low, find and repair leak, and 
recharge system 

Attachment E2 
8 of 17

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 28 of 126



 9

xix. Clean condensate pans thoroughly and install new algae treatment tablet 
xx. Compile the temperature difference of AC outlet air vs. room temperature on a sampling 

of the units in each building and provide a report of these measurements. 
xxi. Prepare a preventative maintenance service report with the following information: air 

range, suction and discharge pressures, amperage readings and rated amperages, ambient 
air temperatures 

xxii. Check for any mold and/or mildew contamination. Report findings to Authority’s 
Property Manager or designee. 

xxiii. Calibrate all controllers as needed  
xxiv. Check that all electrical and equipment covers are in place and in good condition. 

Replace as required and report deficiencies 
xxv. Check exhaust fans for proper operation, lubricate all motors and bearings as required, 

check bearings for noise 
 

b. Other Preventative Maintenance Services 
i. Contractor shall clean evaporator coils and condenser coils as needed, but no less than 

annually. 
ii. Pre-winter startup of HVAC system (heat pumps and heaters) shall be done to coincide 

with quarterly tune up, belts/filter servicing in September/October.  Pre-winter startup 
shall check to ensure heating system is working properly and shall include cleaning 
electric heating coils as recommended by the manufacturer.   

 
12. REPAIRS 

During the course of the work, if repairs are identified, Authority approval is required to obtain a 
purchase order number for the work before contractor may proceed with the repair. Verbal 
authorization and purchase order number will be provided to contractor via telephone. Purchase order 
number must be included on the invoice. For repairs in excess of $250.00 identified during afterhours 
or emergency call-ins, the Authority’s Property Manager or designee shall be contacted by telephone 
for advisement and approval. 
 

13. RESPONSE TIME 
The Contractor shall be available for emergency calls on a twenty-four (24) hour basis, seven days a 
week.  The Contractor shall have the ability to respond to Emergency service calls with a one (1) hour 
on-site response time. Three (3) documented failures to comply may be considered cause for 
termination of contract.   
 
Response time for emergency repairs shall not exceed three (3) hours total on Saturday, Sunday and 
holidays.  Emergency service calls shall be defined as unit failures that cannot await regular 
scheduling.   
 
Contractor shall respond and commence work within three (3) hours or less for regular repairs which 
may include but not be limited to equipment malfunctions.     
 
Emergency service during overtime hours that require major repairs or parts not normally carried by 
the responding mechanic will be scheduled for completion the next regular business day. 
 
Responding to afterhours emergency service calls, the contractor will affect any temporary repairs 
required, leaving the equipment in safe operating condition. Should emergency repairs not be able to 
be completed by the close of business the contractor is to notify the Authority’s Property Manager or 
designee and advise of the outstanding condition and required action and/or parts and effect 
permanent repair the following day or as otherwise agreed to. 
 

Attachment E2 
9 of 17

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 29 of 126



 10

14. DEFINITION OF REGULAR AND OVERTIME HOURS 
Regular business hours are defined as any hours worked between 7:00 AM and 5:00 PM, Monday 
through Friday. Overtime hours are defined as any work performed outside of "Regular Business" 
work hours; which include New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day 
and Christmas Day. 
 

15. TIME AND MATERIAL WORK 
All quotes for work shall include a cost breakdown submitted by the contractor as follows: labor rate, 
quantity of hours, materials list, wholesale cost (with evidence of same) and mark up, at applicable 
contract rates. 
 
The Authority reserves the right to delete or add additional units as needed, at contract bid prices. 
 
Each call shall generate a separate invoice detailing the labor charge and the parts/materials as 
outlined above. 
 
All invoices are required to include a separate purchase order number, which can be obtained by 
calling the Authority’s Property Manager. 
 

16. HOURLY LABOR RATE  
The Authority does not guarantee any minimum number of hours and will pay only for the actual 
number of hours authorized and worked at the site. The labor charge shall include all travel. No 
additional travel time will be honored. 
 

17. MATERIALS 
Parts / Materials Prices: All materials, not otherwise provided under the preventative 
maintenance portion of the agreement, shall be invoiced at actual wholesale cost plus a 
percentage (%) markup as specified in Exhibit B. Copies of the contractor’s own purchase 
invoices reflecting actual costs shall accompany each invoice to the Authority.  
 
All materials and parts utilized shall be new.  For units under warranty, only Original Equipment 
Manufacturers (OEM) parts shall be used, unless otherwise approved in advance of order and 
installation. 
 

18. REPORT PROCEDURE 
Following each visit, the Contractor shall furnish the Authority’s Property Manager or designee a 
written acknowledgement detailing all preventative maintenance examinations, repairs, tests and any 
other vital information for each unit, on a separate submittal for each building. 
 

19. SERVICE TAG 
All technicians shall complete a service tag/sticker and attach it to the serviced equipment after 
completion of work. The service tag/sticker shall be used to document the following information: the 
date serviced, the name of the technician(s), and a description of the service(s) performed. The service 
tag/sticker must contain adequate space to document future repairs and must be placed in a location to 
prevent weather related damages. The technician shall not place the new service tag over pre-
existing service tags, including tags that have previous history and repairs. 
 

20. FAULTY MATERIALS 
The contractor shall take full responsibility for faulty materials and shall remedy all defects due thereto, 
at no additional cost to Authority, and pay any damage to other resulting there from, which shall appear 
within one (1) year. The Authority shall give notice of observed defects with reasonable promptness.   
 

Attachment E2 
10 of 17

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 30 of 126



 11

21. PERMITS 
The contractor shall be responsible to secure the construction permit, if required, for every project 
before commencement of work. 
 

22. SUBCONTRACTING 
Contractor shall not subcontract any work without first obtaining the prior approval of the Authority’s 
Property Manager, which approval may be withheld in his/her sole discretion, but in no case shall such 
consent relieve the Contractor from its obligations or change the terms of the contract. 

 
[THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONAL LEFT BLANK] 

  

Attachment E2 
11 of 17

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 31 of 126



 12

EXHIBIT B 
COMPENSATION 

 
The Contract shall be paid based upon the scope of work and service visits outlined in Exhibit A 
of attach.   Additional Services to be billed separately. 
 

 
Proper
ty 
Name 

Property 
Address 

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 

Cost per 
Quarter 

Annual 
Cost 

Cost per 
Quarter 

Annual 
Cost 

Cost per 
Quarter 

Annual 
Cost 

1 Collins  2051 E Paul 
Dirac Dr $907.44 $3,629.76 $907.44 $3,629.76 $907.44 $3,629.76 

2 Knight  1736 W Paul 
Dirac Dr 67.63 270.52 67.63 270.52 67.63 270.52 

3 Johnson 2035 E Paul 
Dirac Dr 1,572.50 6,290.00 1,572.50 6,290.00 1,572.50 6,290.00 

4 Morgan 2035 E Paul 
Dirac Dr 676.35 2,705.40 676.35 2,705.40 676.35 2,705.40 

5 Phipps 2007 E Paul 
Dirac Dr 225.45 901.80 225.45 901.80 225.45 901.80 

 TOTAL   $3,449.37 $13,797.48 $3,449.37 $13,797.48 $3,449.37 $13,797.48 
 
In the event, it becomes necessary to add or delete a unit from those listed in Exhibit D, the 
below cost will be used to adjust the contract cost to accommodate such addition or deletion of 
unit(s). 
 
HVAC REPAIR SERVICES 
a. Hourly Rates 

Foreman/Journeyman 
Normal Working Hours, Monday through Friday,  
7:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m.       $85.00 Per Hour 
 
Overtime Hours, Monday through Friday, after 5:00 p.m.  $127.50 Per Hour 
And Saturday/Sunday/Holidays       
 

b. Materials/Equipment Cost Plus 20%  
 

The above unit prices listed in the Price Schedule shall include all labor, materials, removal, 
overhead, profit, insurance, and any other cost necessary to cover the finished work of the 
several kinds called for. 
 

Attachment E2 
12 of 17

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 32 of 126



 13

EXHIBIT C 
INSURANCE 

 
a. CONTRACTOR’S INSURANCE.  Contractor shall, at its sole cost, maintain limits no less 

than the following throughout the Term: 

i. General Liability.  $1,000,000 combined single limit per occurrence for bodily 
injury, personal injury and property damage with a $2,000,000 annual 
aggregate.  Contractor’s insurance shall include Authority as an additional 
insured as provided herein below. 

ii. Automobile Liability:  $1,000,000 combined single limit per accident for 
bodily injury and property damage for non-owned, hired automobile.  
Contractor’s insurance shall include Authority as an additional insured as 
provided herein below. The requirements of this provision may be waived 
upon submission by Contractor of a written statement that no automobiles are 
used to conduct business. 

iii. Worker’s Compensation and Employers Liability:  Insurance covering all 
employees meeting statutory requirements in compliance with the applicable 
state and federal laws.  In lieu of naming Authority as an additional insured, 
Contractor shall provide to Authority a waiver of all rights of subrogation 
against Authority with respect to losses payable under such workers’ 
compensation policy(ies). 

b. AMENDED INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS.  Authority reserves the right to reasonably 
amend the insurance requirements to standards reasonable and customary for the size and type 
of business being conducted by Contractor by the issuance of a notice in writing to Contractor.  
The Contractor shall provide any other insurance or security reasonably required by 
Authority.   

c. DEDUCTIBLES AND SELF-INSURED RETENTIONS.  Any deductibles or self-insured 
retentions applicable to any of Contractor’s policies required above shall be declared to and 
approved by Authority.  Thereafter, at the request of Authority, Contractor shall cause its 
insurer to reduce or eliminate such deductibles or self-insured retentions as they may apply to 
Authority, its agents, officers, officials, employees and volunteers or, in lieu of such 
reductions or eliminations, Contractor shall procure a bond guaranteeing payment of losses 
and related investigations, claims administration, and defense expenses. 

d. AUTHORITY AS ADDITIONAL INSURED.  Authority, its agents, officers, officials, 
employees, and volunteers are to be named and covered as additional insureds, with no 
limitations on the scope of protection afforded, in all of Contractor’s insurance policies, other 
than workers’ compensation policies, that include coverage for the following: 

i. liability arising from, or in connection with, activities performed by, or on 
behalf of, Contractor; 

ii. products and completed operations of Contractor; 

iii. premises owned, occupied, or used by Contractor; or 

iv. automobiles owned, leased, hired, or borrowed by Contractor. 

Attachment E2 
13 of 17

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 33 of 126



 14

e. CONTRACTOR’S INSURANCE AS PRIMARY.  With regard to claims for injuries to 
persons or damages to property which may arise from, or in connection with, the performance 
by Contractor, its agents, representatives, employees, and/or subcontractors of the rights, 
duties and responsibilities pursuant to this Agreement, Contractor’s insurance coverage shall 
be primary insurance with respect to Authority, its agents, officers, officials, employees, and 
volunteers.  As such, any insurance or self-insurance maintained by Authority, its agents, 
officers, officials, employees, or volunteers shall be excess of Contractor’s insurance and shall 
not contribute with it.  In such instances when Contractor’s insurance coverage is primary, 
Contractor hereby waives all rights of subrogation against Authority with respect to losses 
payable under such insurance coverage. 

f. CERTIFICATES OF INSURANCE.  Contractor shall furnish Authority with certificates of 
insurance and with any original endorsements evidencing the coverages described above.  
Such certificates shall be signed by a person authorized by that insurer to bind coverage on its 
behalf.  All certificates and endorsements are to be received and approved by Authority prior 
to the commencement of Contractor’s services under this Agreement.  Authority reserves the 
right to require complete, certified copies of all Contractor’s required insurance policies at 
any time.  Each of Contractor’s required insurance policies shall be endorsed to state that 
coverage shall not be suspended, voided, cancelled by either party, or reduced in coverage or 
in limits except after thirty (30) days prior written notice by certified mail, return receipt 
requested, has been given to Authority.  All of Contractor’s required insurance policies shall 
be placed with insurers with a Best’s rating of no less than A:VII and which are licensed in 
the state of Florida. 

g. OTHER ENDORSEMENTS REQUIREMENTS FOR CONTRACTOR’S INSURANCE.  Each of 
Contractor’s required insurance policies shall contain endorsements for, or otherwise provide, 
the following: 

i. that any failure to comply with the reporting provisions of the policies shall 
not affect coverage provided to Authority, its agents, officers, officials, 
employees, or volunteers; 

ii. that, to the extent of insurer’s limits of liability, Contractor’s insurance 
coverage shall apply separately to each insured against whom claims are made 
or suit is brought; and 

iii. that the companies issuing the insurance policy(ies) shall have no recourse 
against Authority for payment of premiums or assessments for any deductibles 
which are the sole responsibility and risk of Contractor. 

 
 

Attachment E2 
14 of 17

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 34 of 126



LCRDA‐Innovation Park HVAC Unit Listing EXHIBIT D 12/03/2018

Bldg Unit# Type Make Serial Model Year Ton Notes

Knight 1 Condenser Payne 3109X66838 PF13N1042‐B 2010 3.5

Knight 1 AHU Payne 1810A82663 PF4MNA042 2010

Knight 2 Condenser York W0G8037G39 Y2B03011A 2008 2.5

Knight 2 AHU York AHP030B3XH21H A089583193 2008

Collins 1 Condenser York W1C1837607 YHJD4854453A Jul‐11 4

Collins 1 AHU W1D1931286 MA20D Jul‐11

Collins 2 Condenser York W1E2810033 YHJD6054454A Jul‐18 5

Collins 2 AHU XCM8062476 N1AH02046A May‐03

Collins 3 Condenser York WKLM055970 E4FD060546A Apr‐03 5

Collins 3 AHU A0N6319863 MA20DN41A Mar‐07

Collins 4 Condenser Trane 11215R3R4A 73D40RAA May‐11 6

Collins 4 AHU K1510R55H TWE080A300BB Apr‐95

Collins 5 Condenser Trane 11215PIG4A TWA073D40RAA May‐11 7.5

Collins 5 AHU K124K6J5H TWE090A300BB Mar‐95

Collins 6 Condenser Trane N134PNDAF TTR030C100A3 Mar‐98 2.5

Collins 6 AHU K98K04954A MCCA003NAG00BAB06 Oct‐98

Collins 7 Condenser Mitsubishi 6001825 MUY‐A24NA 7/2011 2

Collins 7 AHU 6001816 MUSY‐A24NA 7/2011

Collins 8 Condenser York WIM1431979 YHJR3654153A Jun‐86 3.5

Collins 8 AHU XFNS187849 F2RP042H06B Jul‐04

Collins 9 Condenser York W1L0413409 YHJR2454153A Jul‐11 2

Collins 9 AHU W1C1687769 AHX30 Jul‐11

Collins 11 Condenser York W1F1IS2931 YHJD4854453A Mar‐01 4

Collins 11 AHU ADC6038347 N1AHC16446G Jun‐86

Collins 12 Condenser York NCKM023046 EIFB120A46D Mar‐01 5

Collins 12 AHU NAT5038268 F2EH120A33A Jun‐86

Collins 13 Condenser York MCT5114413 N2AHD16A46A Jun‐86 3.5

Collins 13 AHU York W1D1931289 MA20DN41H Jun‐86

Collins 14 Condenser Trane 10124K4R2F TWA060A3000A1 Oct‐89 5

Collins 14 AHU York EEJ5108245 N1AHD2006A May‐00

Collins 15 Condenser York W1E0868972 YHJ06054454A Jun‐10 4

Collins 15 AHU W0F9860634 MA20DN41H Jun‐10

Collins 16 Condenser York WELM062762 6054454A Apr‐03 5

Collins 16 AHU NCTS112596 YZB02411A Jun‐86

Collins 17 Condenser York W038851815 YZB02411A 2008 2

Collins 17 AHU A0B8642333 SHP24B3XH21A 2008

Collins 18 Condenser York ML55411290 N2AHD16A46A Oct‐89 3

Collins 18 AHU York W1B1737431 MA12BN41H Oct‐89

Collins 19 Condenser York N1A1650454 PC090C00A4AAA2A Jan‐03 7.5

Collins 19 AHU NNL5006389 F3EH090A33A Jan‐03

Collins 20 Condenser York MCT5114431 N2AHD16A46A Oct‐89 4

Collins 20 AHU York W1E001004746 MA20DN47H Oct‐89

Page 1 of 3

Attachment E2 
15 of 17

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 35 of 126



LCRDA‐Innovation Park HVAC Unit Listing EXHIBIT D 12/03/2018

Bldg Unit# Type Make Serial Model Year Ton Notes

Johnson 1 Condenser Dakin 1708197526 DZ115A0904AB Jan‐18 7.5

Johnson 1 AHU Dakin 1708006409 DAR0904AB Jan‐18

Johnson 2 Condenser Trane K12198991 TWA240B400BA Mar‐95 20

Johnson 2 AHU K144XDP6H TWE240B400BC Apr‐95

Johnson 3 Condenser Trane 9521LPCAD TWA073D40RAA Dec‐09 7.5

Johnson 3 AHU 9515NENBD TWE090D00AA Dec‐09

Johnson 4 Condenser Trane K131JWTAH TWA180B400BA Apr‐95 15

Johnson 4 AHU K1755BJ6H TWE180B400BD Apr‐95

Johnson 5 Condenser Trane K18231909 TWA042C400A1 May‐95 3.5

Johnson 5 AHU K1636KA5H TWE060A400BB 1995

Johnson 6 Condenser Trane K1415U4AH TWA120A400BA Apr‐95 10

Johnson 6 AHU K1742AW5H TWE120A300BB Apr‐95

Johnson 7A Condenser Pomona 207899H95 CDS015VH 1985 10

Johnson 7A AHU 8953016 SACC000‐2U‐40N‐12 1985

Johnson 7B Condenser Liebert 207899H95 CD5015VH 1985 10

Johnson 7B AHU 8953017 SACC000‐2U‐40N‐12 1985

Johnson 8 Condenser Trane 3395KM45F 2A7A1018A1000A Sep‐03 1.5

Johnson 8 AHU K16392803 TWH018B140A1 Apr‐95

Johnson 9 Condenser Trane 3211YLL2F 2TWA0060A4000AB May‐03 5

Johnson 9 AHU K164TNG5H TWE060A400BB Apr‐95

Johnson 10 Condenser Trane K13198432 TWA090A400BA Mar‐95 7.5

Johnson 10 AHU K163NMG5H TWE090A300BB Apr‐95

Johnson 11 Condenser Carrier 3018C91429. 38AUQA08A0B6A0A0A0 Aug‐18 7.5

Johnson 11 AHU 2318U19371 40RUQA08T2A6 Aug‐18

Johnson 12 Condenser Trane 84145EYAD TWA120A400FB Oct‐08 10

Johnson 12 AHU K174UC95H TWE120A300BB Apr‐95

Johnson 13 Condenser York WIF2916505 YHJD6054454A Sep‐18 5

Johnson 13 AHU York MA20DN41H WIF2880266 Sep‐18

Johnson 14 Condenser Trane K08198666 TWA180B400BA Feb‐95 15

Johnson 14 AHU K181N4XX6H TWE180B400BC May‐95

Johnson 15 Condenser TraneXR 17355L1DAF 4TTR4018L1000AB Sep‐17 1.5 IT Room SEAC

Johnson 15 AHU Trane 172846YE3L TEM4A08185215AA Sep‐17

Johnson 16 Mini‐Split Mitsubishi MX2‐2C2ON A2‐U1 MXZ‐2C2ONA2 18‐Mar Fuqua Restrooms

Johnson 17 Mini‐Split Mitsubishi 1001367T MV‐A09WA Mar‐18 IT Room SEAC

Page 2 of 3

Attachment E2 
16 of 17

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 36 of 126



LCRDA‐Innovation Park HVAC Unit Listing EXHIBIT D 12/03/2018

Bldg Unit# Type Make Serial Model Year Ton Notes

Morgan 1 Condenser Trane D13221016 TWJ730A100A0 Mar‐89 2.5

Morgan 1 AHU Dakin 1708006409 DAR09048B Jan‐17

Morgan 2 Condenser York/Trane WKNM025901 E1RA090546G Jan‐07 7.5

Morgan 2 AHU Trane 170012 BWE090C400FA Mar‐89

Morgan 3 Condenser Trane 13474P3NTA TWA240E40RAA Nov‐13 20

Morgan 3 AHU Trane 13405MSRWA TWA240E400BB Oct‐13

Morgan 4 Condenser York 15031XE44A TWA120D40RAA Jan‐15 10

Morgan 4 AHU Trane 176778 BWE120C400FA Mar‐89

Morgan 5 Condenser York W0A7394752 E1RA060S46H Jun‐07 5

Morgan 5 AHU Trane No numbers shown

Morgan 6 Condenser Trane 13292L79TP TWA180E40RAA Jul‐13 15

Morgan 6 AHU Trane 179255 BWV180B400DA Mar‐89

Morgan 7 Mini‐Split Mitsubishi MXZ‐2020N P2‐U1 7ZPO7588 MXZ‐2C20WA2 Mar‐18 Fuqua Restrooms

Phipps 1 Condenser Carrier 0812E2‐0710 25HBC360A‐300 Feb‐12 5

Phipps AHU Trane 2102KPA5H TWE060A400CA 2001

Phipps 2 Condenser Trane 9182RG31F 2TWA0072A4000AB 2009 5

Phipps AHU Trane 9234N7BBD TWE060A400EL 2009

Phipps 3 Condenser Carrier 2807E24732 25HNA636300 2009 3

Phipps AHU Carrier 1407A68988 FE4ANF003 2009

Phipps 4 Condenser Carrier 3207E10979 25HNA648A300 2009 4

Phipps AHU Carrier 1307A88348 FE4ANF005 2009

Phipps 5 Condenser Carrier 2807E24733 25HNA636A300 2009 3

Phipps AHU Carrier 1407A68980 FE4ANF003 2009

Phipps 6 Hanging strap heater Dayton C8635137 3E405 None Shown N/A

Page 3 of 3

Attachment E2 
17 of 17

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 37 of 126



Attachment E3 
1 of 14

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 38 of 126



Attachment E3 
2 of 14

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 39 of 126



Attachment E3 
3 of 14

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 40 of 126



Attachment E3 
4 of 14

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 41 of 126



Attachment E3 
5 of 14

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 42 of 126



Attachment E3 
6 of 14

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 43 of 126



Attachment E3 
7 of 14

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 44 of 126



Attachment E3 
8 of 14

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 45 of 126



Attachment E3 
9 of 14

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 46 of 126



Attachment E3 
10 of 14

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 47 of 126



Attachment E3 
11 of 14

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 48 of 126



Attachment E3 
12 of 14

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 49 of 126



Attachment E3 
13 of 14

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 50 of 126



Attachment E3 
14 of 14

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 51 of 126



Attachment E4 
1 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 52 of 126



Attachment E4 
2 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 53 of 126



Attachment E4 
3 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 54 of 126



Attachment E4 
4 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 55 of 126



RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Submission Deadline:  March 4, 2019 @ 1:00 p.m. 

1 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 
Collins Building Repairs & Renovation Services 

RFP NO. 19-02 

PROPOSAL DUE DATE 
MARCH 4, 2019 

Attachment F1 
1 of 29

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 56 of 126



RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Submission Deadline:  March 4, 2019 @ 1:00 p.m. 

2  
 
 

 
REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS (“RFP”) 

RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation 
AT INNOVATION PARK 

February 8, 2019 
 

The Leon County Research and Development Authority (“LCRDA”) is requesting proposals from 
contractors for the provision of repair and renovation services in the Collins Building at Innovation Park. 
The award shall be made to a responsible Proposer taking into consideration the evaluation factors set 
forth in the Request for Proposals (RFP) and, if necessary, obtaining best and final offers. 
 
The LCRDA will receive all proposals.  The Board of Governors (“Board”) Executive Committee will 
evaluate all proposals which may conduct negotiations and make a final recommendation to the Board for 
award of the contract. It is the LCRDA’s intent to award one contract for the requested services. 

 
A. Services Sought. 

 
1. Location. 

The LCRDA is requesting proposals from qualified firms (“Proposers” or may be 
referred to as “Contractors”) for the provision of repair and renovation services in the 
Collins Building at Innovation Park, 2051 E. Paul Dirac Drive, Tallahassee, FL 32310.   

 
2. Required Services and Approach to Required Services. 

a. The successful Proposer shall be required to provide the services outlined in 
Exhibit “B” attached hereto (“Required Services”) for the above referenced 
property. 

 
b. The successful Proposer shall be required to furnish all equipment, machinery, 

transportation and other implements necessary to execute the contract. 
Proposer’s Proposal should include an outline of the type of equipment, which 
the Proposer intends to use to ensure Proposer has sufficient equipment and 
supplies for the provision of services contemplated in this request for proposals. 
 

c. The Proposer should propose a plan as to how the Required Services and any 
suggested and/or enhanced services will be performed. The plan should include 
the number of personnel, which will be used to execute the services and when 
the services will be performed, and estimated time to complete each service. The 
Proposer is specifically advised that LCRDA reserves the right to approve any 
person, firm, or other party to whom it is proposed to award a subcontract under 
this contract.  In the event Proposer plans to subcontract any portion of the work, 
Proposer shall indicate in its plan the identity of the subcontractor(s) and the role 
of said subcontractor(s). 
 

d. A portion of the Location is currently occupied. The areas to be renovated are 
not occupied, but access to the occupied areas, including common area 
restrooms must be maintained and coordinated with the existing tenant.  

 

Attachment F1 
2 of 29

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 57 of 126



RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Submission Deadline:  March 4, 2019 @ 1:00 p.m. 

3  
 
 

e. The successful Proposer shall maintain that all employees have been trained in 
appropriate safety measures to ensure Proposer’s employees are performing their 
work in a safe manner. 

 
3. Qualifications of Proposer. 

a. The Proposer shall state their qualifications to provide the Required Services, 
which should include but not be limited to, previous similar services offered to 
businesses within Leon County, current similar contracts being performed by 
Proposer, the length of time that this Proposer has been performing this service, 
the length of time employees who will execute the service have been employed 
by the Proposer, and any special qualifications those employees might have. 

 
b. The Proposer shall have a minimum of three (3) years previous experience 

providing similar services for similar sized projects prior to the date the proposal 
is submitted. 

 
c. The Proposer shall include responsibilities and relevant experience of the 

person(s) who will be actively engaged in managing the contract and supervising 
the employees providing the services. 

 
d. The Proposer shall submit with the proposal a summary of any training provided 

to employees to ensure the services proposed are provided in a safe and high 
quality manner and environment. 

 
e. If any services are expected to be subcontracted, the Proposer shall also provide 

all of the above information for the subcontractor(s). 
 

4. References/Client List. 

a. The Proposer shall provide a list of five (5) client references, at least three (3) of 
which shall be current clients, for whom the same or similar type of services as 
those sought in this RFP have been or are being provided.  The Proposer shall 
provide the location of the properties served, a contact person, electronic mail 
address, if available, and telephone number for each.  The LCRDA reserves the 
right to contact clients for reference checks. 

 
b. In the event the Proposer plans to subcontract any services, the above 

information shall be provided as it relates to the subcontractor(s) and the 
services that will be performed by such subcontractor. 

 
5. Terms of Agreement. 

a. Time and Liquidated Damages. The Required Services to be performed under 
this RFP shall be commenced upon execution of an agreement and within fifteen 
(15) days of the Notice to Proceed.  All work to be performed shall be completed 
within one-hundred twenty (120) consecutive calendar days of the Notice to 
Proceed. If the Required Services are not completed within the time set forth 
above, or within such extra time as may be granted by LCRDA, the successful 
Proposer shall be deemed to be in default. For each day the successful Proposer 

Attachment F1 
3 of 29

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 58 of 126



RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Submission Deadline:  March 4, 2019 @ 1:00 p.m. 

4  
 
 

is in default, the successful Proposer or its Surety shall pay to LCRDA, not as a 
penalty, but as liquidated damages, the amount of $100.00. 
 

b. The terms of the agreement will be negotiated with the selected proposer. The 
contract will be monitored for acceptable services rendered throughout the 
contract term.  The LCRDA will have the option to cancel the contract in whole 
or in part during the contract term, for any reason or no reason, without penalty, 
upon notice.  The Proposer will not be entitled to lost profits or any further 
compensation not earned prior to the time of cancellation. 

 
6. Payments. 

a. Payment shall be made according to the Proposer’s payment schedule contained 
in its proposal, or as negotiated by LCRDA.  In no event shall more than 80% of 
the total Price be paid prior to the completion of the project.  

 
b. Unless specified otherwise, the invoice shall be addressed as follows: 
 

Leon County Research and Development Authority 
c/o TALCOR Commercial Real Estate Services, Inc. 
1018 Thomasville Rd, Suite 200A 
Tallahassee, FL 32303  
 
With a copy emailed to: rmiller@inn-park.com 

 
c. Payments shall be paid to the Proposer within thirty (30) days contingent upon 

the receipt of properly documented invoices and with the condition that the 
Proposer has accomplished the services to the satisfaction of the LCRDA.  

 
B. Proposal Process. 
 

1. Mandatory Pre-submittal Conference 

A Mandatory Pre-submittal Conference meeting and walk-through of the job site will be 
held at the site, 2051 E. Paul Dirac Drive, Tallahassee, Florida, at 10:00 AM, February 
18, 2019.. 

 
2. Contact Information 

Each Proposer shall examine the RFP documents carefully and inspect the properties to 
be maintained pursuant to this RFP.  Questions concerning the RFP terms, conditions 
and technical specifications will be accepted in writing through 2:00 PM, February 25, 
2019.  Requests must be transmitted via email.  No Proposer may rely upon any oral 
responses.  Answers to such questions will be posted on the LCRDA’s website.  Such 
written questions and requests shall be directed to the following LCRDA Contact person: 

 
LCRDA Contact: 
Ron Miller, Executive Director 
Rmiller@inn-park.com 

 

Attachment F1 
4 of 29

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 59 of 126



RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Submission Deadline:  March 4, 2019 @ 1:00 p.m. 

5  
 
 

a. All registered Proposers will be sent any addenda or clarifications issued in 
response to this RFP.  It is the responsibility of the Proposer to register its name 
and contact information with Ron Miller in order to receive said addenda or 
clarifications. 

 
b. Only communications from the Proposer which are in writing and signed by a 

person(s) authorized to contractually bind such Proposer will be recognized by 
the Board as duly authorized expressions on behalf of the Proposer. 

 
c. From the time this RFP is issued until a final decision is made by the Board as to 

the award of a contract to a Proposer, Proposers are instructed to:   
 

i. Only contact the LCRDA Contact, identified hereinabove, regarding this 
RFP, the Proposer’s Proposal or another Proposer’s Proposal in writing; 
provided any such contact shall be limited to questions regarding the process 
of this RFP and shall not relate to the merits of the Proposer’s Proposal or 
another Proposer’s Proposal; and 

 
ii. Other than discussions held during the Mandatory Pre-Submittal Conference 

and public meetings of the Board, or of the Evaluation Committee, no 
contact or communication in person, by telephone, e-mail, through an 
intermediary, or otherwise with any member of the Board or any other 
representative of the LCRDA, other than LCRDA Contact, regarding this 
RFP, the Proposer’s Proposal or another Proposer’s Proposal shall occur. 

 
d. Any contact or communication in violation of the provisions above shall be 

cause for rejection of the Proposer’s Proposal. 
 
3. Proposal Deadline. 

Proposals must be received by the LCRDA by 1:00 PM, March 4, 2019 (“Submission 
Deadline”).  Proposals may be mailed or hand-delivered to the below address: 

 
Mail or hand-deliver to: 
Leon County R&D Authority 
Attn:  Ron Miller 
1736 W. Paul Dirac Drive 
Tallahassee, FL 32310 

  
Mark on the outside of the envelope and on any carrier’s envelope:  "PROPOSAL 
FOR COLLINS BUILDING REPAIR AND RENOVATION, March 4, 2019, 
1:00PM”. 
 
Due to inconsistent office hours, hand-delivered Proposals will only be accepted on the 
day of the Submission Deadline after 9:00am and before 1:00pm, or by appointment only 
if on days prior to the Submission Deadline.  Please email rmiller@inn-park.com to make 
an appointment.  

 

Attachment F1 
5 of 29

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 60 of 126



RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Submission Deadline:  March 4, 2019 @ 1:00 p.m. 

6  
 
 

4. Submission of Proposal. 

a. Proposals must arrive at the above address no later than Submission Deadline to 
be considered.  

 
b. It is the Proposer’s responsibility to assure that their Proposal is delivered to the 

proper location no later than the Submission Deadline.   
 
c. The LCRDA Contact, whose duty it is to open the Proposals, will open the 

Proposals as soon as practicable after the established Submission Deadline.  
 
d. Proposals received later than the Submission Deadline will not be considered, 

will be marked “Too Late” and may be returned unopened to the Proposer.  
 
e. The LCRDA is not responsible for the premature opening of a Proposal not 

properly addressed and identified by the RFP title and submission deadline on 
the outside of the envelope/package. 

 
f. The Proposer shall submit an ORIGINAL and three (3) copies of the proposal on 

or before the Submission Deadline. Proposals will be retained as the property of 
the LCRDA.  The Original of your Proposal must be clearly marked “Original” 
on its face and must contain an original, manual signature of an authorized 
representative of the responding Proposer; all other copies may be photocopies. 

 
g. Proposer Registration - Potential Proposers MUST officially register before 

March 4, 2019, and as soon as possible, in order to be placed on the Registered 
Proposers list for the solicitation (see Attachment 9).  This list is used for 
communications to prospective Proposers.  Also, Proposers should be aware that 
solicitation documents obtained from sources other than the LCRDA Contact 
may be drafts, incomplete, or in some other fashion different from the official 
solicitation document(s).  Failure to register as a prospective Proposer may cause 
a Proposer’s Proposal to be rejected as non-responsive. 

 
h. Special Accommodation - Any person requiring a special accommodation at the 

Opening of Proposals because of a disability should inform the LCRDA Contact 
no less than three (3) workdays prior to the proposal deadline. 

 
i. All expenses associated with the submittal of a proposal will be borne solely by 

the Proposers. 
 

5. General Conditions. 

a. Proposers must be available for interviews by the Evaluation Committee, and/or 
the Board if required. 

 
b. The contents of the Proposal of the successful Proposer will become part of the 

contractual obligations except as may be modified by subsequent negotiations. 
 
c. Proposals must be typed or printed in ink.  All corrections made by the Proposer 

to their Proposal prior to the Opening of Proposals must be initialed and dated 

Attachment F1 
6 of 29

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 61 of 126



RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Submission Deadline:  March 4, 2019 @ 1:00 p.m. 

7  
 
 

by the Proposer.  No corrections will be allowed to be made to Proposals after 
the Opening of Proposals. 

 
d. The LCRDA reserves the right to reject any or all Proposals, in whole or in part, 

when such rejection is in the best interest of the LCRDA.  Further, the LCRDA 
reserves the right to withdraw this solicitation at any time prior to the final 
award of the contract. 

 
e. Equal Opportunity/Affirmative Action Requirements - The Proposer shall agree 

to a commitment to the principles and practices of equal opportunity in 
employment and to comply with the letter and spirit of federal, state, and local 
laws and regulations prohibiting discrimination based on race, color, religion, 
national region, sex, age, handicap, marital status, and political affiliation or 
belief.  For federally funded projects, in addition to the above, the Proposer shall 
agree to comply with Executive Order 11246, as amended, and to comply with 
specific affirmative action obligations contained therein. In addition to 
completing Attachment 3, the Equal Opportunity Statement, the Proposer shall 
include a copy of any affirmative action or equal opportunity policies in effect at 
the time of submission. 

 
f. Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, and Other Responsibility 

Matters - The Proposer must certify to the best of its knowledge and belief, that 
it and its principals are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for 
debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from covered 
transactions by any Federal, State or local department or agency and meet all 
other responsibility matters as contained in the certification form attached as 
Attachment 4.  

 
g. Fictitious Name Registration - If the Proposer is operating under a 

fictitious name as defined in Section 865.09, Florida Statutes, proof of 
current registration with the Florida Secretary of State shall be submitted 
with the Proposal.   

 
h. Unauthorized Alien(s) - The Proposer shall be responsible for assuring that 

unauthorized aliens shall not be employed nor utilized in the performance of the 
requirements of this solicitation.  The LCRDA shall consider the employment or 
utilization of unauthorized aliens a violation of Section 274A(e) of the 
Immigration and Naturalization Act (8 U.S.C. 1324a).  Such violation shall be 
cause for unilateral termination of the contract entered into by the LCRDA as a 
result of this RFP.  As part of the response to this RFP, please complete and 
submit Attachment 5 -- the “Affidavit Certification Immigration Laws.” 

 
i. Addenda to Specifications - If any addenda are issued after the initial 

specifications are released, the LCRDA will post the addenda on the LCRDA’s 
website at http://www.innovation-park.com/opportunities.   

 
It is the responsibility of the Proposer prior to submission of any Proposal to check the 
above website or contact the LCRDA Contact at (850) 224-2300 to verify any addenda.  
The receipt of all addenda must be acknowledged on the Proposal sheet. 

 
6. Schedule 

Attachment F1 
7 of 29

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 62 of 126



RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Submission Deadline:  March 4, 2019 @ 1:00 p.m. 

8  
 
 

The following table lists the important dates/times and actions relative to this 
solicitation.  If the Board finds it necessary to make changes to the actions, dates, and/or 
times, such changes will be accomplished by written addendum to this solicitation and 
posted on the LCRDA’s website.  All times are local times in Tallahassee, Florida. 

 
Events Date/Time 

Release/Issuance of RFP February 8, 2019 
Mandatory Pre-Submittal Meeting February 18, 2019 at 10:00AM (EST) 
Questions for Clarification Deadline February 25, 2019 at 2:00 PM (EST) 
Submission Deadline March 4, 2019 at 1:00 PM (EST) 
Evaluation Committee’s 
Recommendation for Contract Award 
to the Board 

March 25, 2019 (tentative) 

Authorization of contract by Board of 
Governors of LCRDA 

April 4, 2019 

* Notice of meetings of the Evaluation Committee will be posted on the LCRDA’s 
website at http://www.innovation-park.com/executive/ 

 
7. Evaluation 

Proposals will be reviewed and evaluated based upon the following criteria: 
 

a. Completeness of proposal, approach to Required Services. 
 
b. Qualifications of Proposer and qualifications of personnel selected to perform 

the services. 
 
c. Past performance on contracts for similar services with respect to such factors 

such as costs, quality of work and ability to perform. 
 
d. Price.   

 
e. Schedule to Complete Required Services. 

 
f. Local Preference in Purchasing and Contracting 

i. Preference in Requests for Proposals. In letting of contracts for 
procurement of contractual services for which a request for proposals is 
developed with evaluation criteria and a point ranking system is used, 
additional points shall be added to the total score for a local preference, as 
follows:  
(1)      Individuals or firms which have a home office located within Leon, 

Gadsden, Wakulla, or Jefferson County, and which meet all of the 
criteria for a local business as set forth in this article, shall be given a 
preference in the amount of five (5) points.  

(2)      Individuals or firms which do not have a home office located within 
Leon, Gadsden, Wakulla, or Jefferson County, and which meet all of 
the criteria for a local business as set forth in this article, shall be 
given a preference in the amount of three (3) points. 

ii. Local business definition.  For purposes of this section, "local business" 
shall mean a business which: 

Attachment F1 
8 of 29

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 63 of 126



RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Submission Deadline:  March 4, 2019 @ 1:00 p.m. 

9  
 
 

(1) Has had a fixed office located in and having a street address within 
Leon, Gadsden, Wakulla, or Jefferson County for at least six (6) months 
immediately prior to the issuance of the request for competitive bids or 
request for proposals by LCRDA; and 

(2) Holds any business license required by Leon County and, if applicable, 
the City of Tallahassee; and 

(3) Is the principal offeror who is a single offeror; a business which is the 
prime contractor and not a subcontractor; or a partner or joint venturer 
submitting an offer in conjunction with other businesses. 

iii. Certification.  Any vendor claiming to be a local business as defined shall 
so certify in writing to LCRDA. The certification shall provide all 
necessary information to meet the requirements of above.  The Local 
Vendor Certification Form is enclosed (Attachment 8).  LCRDA shall not 
be required to verify the accuracy of any such certifications and shall have 
the sole discretion to determine if a vendor meets the definition of a "local 
business." 
 

g. Minority, Women and Small Business Enterprise (MWSBE) Preference 
i. Preference in Requests for Proposals. In letting of contracts for procurement 

of contractual services for which a request for proposals is developed with 
evaluation criteria and a point ranking system is used, a preference of five 
(5) points shall be added for a certified MWSBE.  

ii. Certification.  Any vendor claiming to be an MWSBE shall attach evidence 
of certification from the Tallahassee-Leon County Office of Economic 
Vitality, or the State of Florida. 

 
Although not required, a point ranking system may be used to aid in the evaluation 
process.  If a point ranking system is not used, Local and MWSBE Preferences shall 
considered in the evaluation process.  
 

8. Contract 

The successful Proposer will be required to enter into a contract with the LCRDA in 
substantially the same form as the sample contract provided with this RFP.  By 
submitting a Proposal, the Proposer acknowledges and agrees to comply with the 
following if they become the Proposer chosen by the Board: 
 
a. Hold Harmless - The Proposer shall agree to indemnify and hold harmless the 

LCRDA from all claims, damages, liabilities, or suits of any nature whatsoever 
arising out of, because of, or due to the breach of this agreement by the 
Proposer, its delegates, agents or employees, or due to any act or occurrence of 
omission or commission of the Proposer, including but not limited to costs and a 
reasonable attorney’s fee.  The LCRDA may, at its sole option, defend itself or 
allow the Proposer to provide the defense.  The Proposer shall acknowledge that 
ten dollars ($10.00) of the amount paid to the Proposer is sufficient 
consideration for the Proposer’s indemnification of the LCRDA. 

 
b. Audits, Records, and Records Retention:  The Proposer shall agree as 

follows: 
 

Attachment F1 
9 of 29

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 64 of 126



RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Submission Deadline:  March 4, 2019 @ 1:00 p.m. 

10  
 
 

i. To establish and maintain books, records, and documents (including 
electronic storage media) in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting procedures and practices, which sufficiently and properly 
reflect all revenues and expenditures of funds provided under this 
contract. 

 
ii. To retain all client records, financial records, supporting documents, 

statistical records, and any other documents (including electronic 
storage media) pertinent to this contract for a period of five (5) years 
after termination of the contract, or if an audit has been initiated and 
audit findings have not been resolved at the end of five (5) years, the 
records shall be retained until resolution of the audit findings or any 
litigation which may be based on the terms of this contract. 

 
iii. Upon completion or termination of the contract and at the request of the 

LCRDA, the Proposer will cooperate with the LCRDA to facilitate the 
duplication and transfer of any said records or documents during the 
required retention period as specified hereinabove. 

 
iv. To assure that these records shall be subject at all reasonable time to 

inspection, review, or audit by Federal, state, or other personnel duly 
authorized by the LCRDA.   

 
v. Persons duly authorized by the LCRDA and Federal auditors, pursuant 

to 45 CFR Part 92.36(I)(10), shall have full access to and right to 
examine any of provider’s contract and related records and documents, 
regardless of the form in which kept, at all reasonable times for as long 
as records are retained. 

 
vi. To include the aforementioned audit and record keeping requirements in 

all approved subcontracts and assignments. 
 

c. Insurance - Attention is directed to the insurance requirements below.  
Proposers should confer with their respective insurance carriers or 
brokers to determine in advance of Proposal submission the availability 
of insurance certificates and endorsements as prescribed and provided 
herein.  Proposers who fail to comply strictly with the insurance 
requirements may be disqualified from award of the contract. 

 
i. The Proposer shall procure and maintain for the duration of the contract 

insurance against claims for injuries to persons or damages to property 
which may arise from or in connection with the performance of the work 
hereunder by the Proposer, his agents, representatives, or employees.   
 

ii. Minimum Limits of Insurance – The Proposer shall maintain limits no 
less than the following:  

 
(1) General Liability.  $1,000,000 combined single limit per 

occurrence for bodily injury, personal injury and property 
damage with a $2,000,000 annual aggregate.  Contractor’s 

Attachment F1 
10 of 29

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 65 of 126



RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Submission Deadline:  March 4, 2019 @ 1:00 p.m. 

11  
 
 

insurance shall include LCRDA as an additional insured as 
provided herein below. 

(2) Automobile Liability:  $1,000,000 combined single limit per 
accident for bodily injury and property damage for non-owned, 
hired automobile.  Contractor’s insurance shall include LCRDA 
as an additional insured as provided herein below. The 
requirements of this provision may be waived upon submission 
by Contractor of a written statement that no automobiles are 
used to conduct business. 

(3) Worker’s Compensation and Employers Liability:  Insurance 
covering all employees meeting statutory requirements in 
compliance with the applicable state and federal laws.  In lieu of 
naming LCRDA as an additional insured, Contractor shall 
provide to LCRDA a waiver of all rights of subrogation against 
LCRDA with respect to losses payable under such workers’ 
compensation policy(ies). 

iii. Deductibles and Self-Insured Retentions - Any deductibles or self-
insured retentions applicable to any of Contractor’s policies required 
above shall be declared to and approved by LCRDA.  Thereafter, at the 
request of LCRDA, Contractor shall cause its insurer to reduce or 
eliminate such deductibles or self-insured retentions as they may apply 
to LCRDA, its agents, officers, officials, employees and volunteers or, 
in lieu of such reductions or eliminations, Contractor shall procure a 
bond guaranteeing payment of losses and related investigations, claims 
administration, and defense expenses. 

 
iv. Other Insurance Provisions – The policies are to contain, or be endorsed 

to contain, the following provisions: 
 

(1) General Liability and Automobile Liability Coverages (LCRDA 
and its agents are to be named as Additional Insured). 

 
(2) The LCRDA, its officers, officials, employees, agents and 

volunteers are to be covered as insureds as respects; liability 
arising out of activities performed by or on behalf of the 
Proposer, including the insured’s general supervision of the 
Proposer; products and completed operations of the Proposer; 
premises owned, occupied or used by the Proposer; or 
automobiles owned, leased, hired or borrowed by the Proposer. 
The coverage shall contain no special limitations on the scope of 
protections afforded the LCRDA, its officers, officials, 
employees, agents or volunteers. 

 
(3) The Proposer’s insurance coverage shall be primary insurance 

as respects the LCRDA, it officers, officials, employees, agents 
and volunteers. Any insurance of self-insurance maintained by 
the LCRDA, its officers, officials, employees, agents or 
volunteers shall be excess of the Proposer’s insurance and shall 
not contribute with it. 

Attachment F1 
11 of 29

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 66 of 126



RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Submission Deadline:  March 4, 2019 @ 1:00 p.m. 

12  
 
 

 
(4) Any failure to comply with reporting provisions of the policies 

shall not affect coverage provided to the LCRDA, its officers, 
officials, employees, agents or volunteers. 

 
(5) The Proposer’s insurance shall apply separately to each insured 

against whom claim is made or suit is brought, except with 
respect to the limits of the insurer’s liability. 

 
(6) All Coverages  - Each insurance policy required by this clause 

shall be endorsed to state that coverage shall not be suspended, 
voided, canceled by either party, reduced in coverage or in 
limits except after thirty (30) days prior written notice by 
certified mail, return receipt requested, has been given to the 
LCRDA. 

 
(7) Acceptability of Insurers - Insurance is to be placed with 

insurers with a Best’s rating of no less than A:VII. 
 

(8) Verification of Coverages – The Proposer shall furnish the 
LCRDA with certificates of insurance and with original 
endorsements effecting coverage required by this clause. The 
certificates and endorsements for each insurance policy are to be 
signed by a person authorized by that insurer to bind coverage 
on its behalf. All certificates and endorsements are to be 
received and approved by the LCRDA before work commences. 
The LCRDA reserves the right to require complete, certified 
copies of all required insurance policies at any time. 

 
(9) Subcontractors: Contracts shall include all subcontractors as 

insureds under its policies or shall furnish separate certificates 
and endorsements for each subcontractor. All coverages for 
subcontractors shall be subject to all of the requirements stated 
herein. 

 
d. Permits: The Contractor shall pay for all necessary permits as required 

by law. 

e. Ethical Business Practices 

i. Gratuities - It shall be unethical for any person to offer, give, or agree to 
give any LCRDA employee, or for any LCRDA employee to solicit, 
demand, accept, or agree to accept from another person, a gratuity or an 
offer of employment in connection with any decision, approval, 
disapproval, recommendation, or preparation of any part of a program 
requirement or a purchase request, influencing the content of any 
specification or procurement standard, rendering of advice, 
investigation, auditing, or performing in any other advisory capacity in 
any proceeding or application, request for ruling, determination, claim 
or controversy, or other particular matter, subcontract, or to any 
solicitation or response therefore. 

Attachment F1 
12 of 29

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 67 of 126



RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Submission Deadline:  March 4, 2019 @ 1:00 p.m. 

13  
 
 

 
ii. Kickbacks - It shall be unethical for any payment, gratuity, or offer of 

employment to be made by or on behalf of a subcontractor under a 
contract to the Proposer or higher tier subcontractor or any person 
associated therewith, as an inducement for the award of a subcontract or 
order.  

 
f. The LCRDA reserves the right to deny award or immediately suspend any 

contract resulting from this response pending final determination of charges of 
unethical business practices.  At its sole discretion, the Board may deny award 
or cancel the contract if it determines that unethical business practices were 
involved.  

 
9. Proposal Format. 

 
a. General Format for Proposals 

To facilitate evaluation, the Proposer shall follow the format outlined in this 
section. Failure of a Proposer to follow the required format may, at the sole 
discretion of the LCRDA, result in the rejection of the submittal. Proposals shall 
contain concise written material that enables a clear understanding and 
evaluation of the capabilities of the Proposer. Clarity and completeness are 
essential. The LCRDA, at its sole discretion, may reject any Proposal which is 
unclear in any way. 

 
 b. Proposal Content  

 
This RFP will be used as the instrument to solicit Proposals for Janitorial 
Services for the LCRDA.  It defines the terms, conditions and specifications to 
be followed and met by the Proposers.  In order to maintain comparability and 
simplify the review and evaluation process, all Proposals submitted are required 
to be organized in the following manner.  Failure to comply with the prescribed 
organization may, at the discretion of the Evaluation Committee, result in the 
elimination of the Proposal from consideration.  Proposals are to be submitted in 
three ring binders or bound by binder clips only.  No manner of plastic, comb or 
wire bindings or staples are acceptable.  Be sure to follow and clearly mark each 
section of your Proposal according to the sections below. 
 

 
Tab 1 – Title Page – The Title Page should contain the following: 

 
 The RFP title 
 
 The name of the proposing Proposer 
 
 The name, address, telephone, e-mail address and fax number of the 

primary contact person 
 

Attachment F1 
13 of 29

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 68 of 126



RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Submission Deadline:  March 4, 2019 @ 1:00 p.m. 

14  
 
 

Tab 2 – Table of Contents – The table of contents should include a clear 
identification of the material included in the Proposal, by section and by page 
number. 

 
Tab 3 – Approach to Required Services including schedule 

 
Tab 4 – Qualifications 

 
Tab 5 – Experience  

 
Tab 6 – References/Client List 

 
Tab 7 – Required Forms 
 
(1) Include the following completed forms: 

 
 Attachment 1 – Proposal Form 
 Attachment 2 – Price Schedule 
 Attachment 3 – Equal Opportunity/Affirmative Action Statement;  
 Attachment 4 – Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension and 

Other Responsibility Matters; 
 Attachment 5 – Affidavit Certification Immigration Laws;  
 Attachment 6 – Insurance Certification Form; and  
 Attachment 7 – Drug-Free Work Place Form. 
 Attachment 8 – Local Vendor Certification 
 Attachment 9 –Proposer Registration Form (as submitted prior to 

March 4, 2019) 
 

(2) Copies of required licenses, registrations, and certifications, if any 

Attachment F1 
14 of 29

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 69 of 126



RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Submission Deadline:  March 4, 2019 @ 1:00 p.m. 

15  
 
 

ATTACHMENT 1 

PROPOSAL FORM 
RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation 

At Innovation Park 
 

Place: Leon County R&D Authority 
1736 W. Paul Dirac Drive 

Tallahassee, FL 32310 
Due Date: March 4, 2019 at 1:00 PM 

 
 Proposal of         hereinafter-called 
PROPOSER, a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of  
  , or, a partnership, a company, or an individual doing business as   
      . 
 
 To the Leon County Research and Development Authority, hereinafter referred to as 
“LCRDA”. 
 
 The PROPOSER, in compliance with the request for proposals for Collins Building 
Repair and Renovation Services, having examined the specifications with related documents and 
the sites of the proposed work, and being familiar with all of the conditions of the proposed work, 
including the availability of materials and labor, hereby proposes to furnish all labor, material and 
supplies and at the prices shown in the attached Price Schedule. These prices are to cover all 
expenses incurred in performing the work required under the proposal documents, of which this 
proposal is a part. These prices are firm and shall not be subject to adjustment provided this 
Proposal is accepted within ninety (90) days after the time set for receipt of proposals. 
 
 PROPOSER hereby agrees to commence work under this contract on or before a date to 
be specified in a written “Notice to Proceed” to be issued by the LCRDA. 
 
 PROPOSER agrees to perform all work for which he contracts as described in the 
specifications for the unit prices shown on the attached Price Schedule. 
 
 Upon receipt of the Notice of Award, PROPOSER will execute the formal contract 
attached within seven (7) days and deliver Insurance Certificates and Bonds as required.   
 
 The undersigned hereby declares that only the persons or firms interested in the proposal 
as principal or principals are named herein, and that no other persons or firms than are herein 
mentioned have any interest in this Proposal or in the contract to be entered into; that this 
proposal is made without connection with any other person, company, or parties likewise 
submitting a proposal; and that it is in all respects for and in good faith, without collusion or 
fraud. 
 
DEVIATIONS FROM SPECIFICATIONS IF ANY: 
 
 
 
 

Attachment F1 
15 of 29

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 70 of 126



RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Submission Deadline:  March 4, 2019 @ 1:00 p.m. 

16  
 
 

 
 
I have read all of the specifications and requirements and do hereby certify that all items 
submitted meet specifications. 
 
COMPANY: __________________________  AGENT NAME: ________________________ 
 
ADDRESS:_________________________________________ 
 
CITY: ____________________STATE: ___________ ZIP CODE: _____________________ 
 
TELEPHONE: ________________________  TELEFAX: _____________________ 
 
FEDERAL ID#:___________________ AND/OR SOCIAL SECURITY #: ________________ 
 
 
    

Respectfully submitted, 
 
Attest:  
 
By:_______________________________  By: ____________________________  
 
Print Name ________________________  Print Name ______________________ 
 
Date _____________________________  Title ___________________________ 
 

Attachment F1 
16 of 29

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 71 of 126



RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Submission Deadline:  March 4, 2019 @ 1:00 p.m. 

17  
 
 

ATTACHMENT 2 

PRICE SCHEDULE 

The PROPOSER, in compliance with the request for proposals for the Collins Building Repair 
and Renovation, having examined the scope of work and written specifications, hereby proposes 
to furnish Collins Building Repair and Renovation services for the following unit prices.  
 
PRICE OF REQUIRED SERVICES (for each item as described in Exhibit A):  
1. Remove walls in training room and kitchen $_________________ 

2. Provide and install kitchen cabinets/top, sink, faucets, etc.  $_________________ 

3. Assistant area ½ wall $_________________ 

4. Provide and install 3 Doors $_________________ 

5. Repair walls and reinstall 2 existing doors and casings $_________________ 

6. Provide and replace all ceiling tiles $_________________ 

7. Painting $_________________ 

8. Remove and Replace Carpet, Cove Base with: 

a. Removal and disposal $_________________ 

b. Provide and install carpet $_________________ 

c. Provide and install LVT $_________________ 

d. Cove base & transitions $_________________  

9. Permits $_________________  

TOTAL PRICE $_________________ 

 
The above unit prices listed in the Price Schedule shall include all labor, materials, 

removal, permits, cleaning, overhead, profit, insurance, and any other cost necessary to cover the 
finished work of the several kinds called for in the RFP. 
 
PROPOSED PAYMENT SCHEDULE (The final payment schedule will be subject to contract 
negotiation): 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 PROPOSER agrees that this proposal shall be good and may not be withdrawn for a 
period of ninety (90) days after the scheduled closing time for receiving proposals. 
    
Respectfully submitted, 
 
By:_______________________________ 
 Signature 
 
___________________________________  ___________________________________ 
Print Name     Print Title 

Attachment F1 
17 of 29

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 72 of 126



RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Submission Deadline:  March 4, 2019 @ 1:00 p.m. 

18  
 
 

 

ATTACHMENT 3 
 

 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY/AFFIRMATIVE ACTION STATEMENT 
 
1. The Proposer hereby agrees to a commitment to the principles and practices of equal 

opportunity in employment and to comply with the letter and spirit of federal, state, and 
local laws and regulations prohibiting discrimination based on race, color, religion, national 
region, sex, age, handicap, marital status, and political affiliation or belief. 

 
2. The Proposer agrees to comply with Executive Order 11246, as amended, and to comply 

with specific affirmative action obligations contained therein. 
 
 
 

Signed: __________________________________________ 
 

Title:  __________________________________________ 
 

Proposer: __________________________________________ 
 

Address: __________________________________________ 
 
  

Attachment F1 
18 of 29

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 73 of 126



RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Submission Deadline:  March 4, 2019 @ 1:00 p.m. 

19  
 
 

 
ATTACHMENT 4 

 
CERTIFICATION REGARDING 

DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION, 
AND OTHER RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS 

 
1)  The Proposer certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief, that it and its principals: 
 

a) Are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or 
voluntarily excluded from covered transactions by any Federal department or agency; 

 
b) Have not within a three-year period preceding this been convicted of or had a civil 

judgment rendered against them for commission of fraud or a criminal offense in 
connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public (Federal, State or 
local) transaction or contract under a public transaction; violation of Federal or State 
antitrust statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or 
destruction of records, making false statements, or receiving stolen property; 

 
c) Are not presently indicted for or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a 

governmental entity (Federal, State or local) with commission of any of these offenses 
enumerated in paragraph (1)(b) of this certification; and 

 
d) Have not within a three-year period preceding this application/Proposal had one or more 

public transactions (Federal, State or local) terminated for cause or default. 
 
2) Where the Proposer is unable to certify to any of the statements in this certification, such 

Respondent shall attach an explanation to this Proposal. 
 
3) No subcontract will be issued for this project to any party which is debarred or suspended 

from eligibility to receive federally funded contracts. 
 
 
         
Signature 
 
 
         
Title 
 
 
                
Proposer’s name 
 
                
Address 
 

Attachment F1 
19 of 29

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 74 of 126



RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Submission Deadline:  March 4, 2019 @ 1:00 p.m. 

20  
 
 

 
 

ATTACHMENT 5 
AFFIDAVIT CERTIFICATION 

IMMIGRATION LAWS 
 

The LCRDA will not intentionally award LCRDA contracts to any Proposer who knowingly 
employs unauthorized alien workers, constituting a violation of the employment provisions 
contained in 8 U.S.C. Section 1324 A(e) (Section 274a(e) of the Immigration and Nationality 
Act). 
 
The LCRDA may consider the employment by any Proposer of Unauthorized Aliens a violation 
of Section 274A(e) of the INA.  Such violation by the Proposer of the employment provision 
contained in Section 274A(e) of the INA shall be ground for unilateral cancellation of the 
contract by the LCRDA. 
 
RESPONDENT ATTESTS THAT THEY ARE FULLY COMPLIANT WITH ALL 
APPLICABLE IMMIGRATION LAWS (SPECIFICALLY TO THE 1986 IMMIGRATION 
ACT AND SUBSEQUENT AMENDMENTS). 
 
Company Name:                  
 
 
Signature:          Title:        
 
 
 
STATE OF       
COUNTY OF      
 
Sworn to and subscribed before me this            day of                       , 20    . 
 
 
Personally known                 

 NOTARY PUBLIC 
 
OR Produced identification                             Notary Public - State of                                         
 
                                                                        My commission expires:                                        
(Type of identification) 

 
  Printed, typed, or stamped 
  commissioned name of notary public 

 
The signee of this Affidavit guarantees, as evidenced by the sworn affidavit required herein, the 
truth and accuracy of this affidavit to interrogatories hereinafter made.   
 
 THE LCRDA RESERVES THE RIGHT TO REQUEST SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION, 
AS EVIDENCE OF SERVICES PROVIDED, AT ANY TIME. 

Attachment F1 
20 of 29

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 75 of 126



RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Submission Deadline:  March 4, 2019 @ 1:00 p.m. 

21  
 
 

 
 

ATTACHMENT 6 
INSURANCE CERTIFICATION FORM 

 
 
To indicate that Proposer understands and is able to comply with the required insurance, as stated 
in the RFP document, the Proposer shall submit this insurances sign-off form, signed by the 
company Risk Manager or authorized manager with risk authority. 
 
1. Is/are the insurer(s) to be used for all required insurance (except Workers’ Compensation) 

listed by Best with a rating of no less than A:VII? 
 
    YES    NO 
 

Commercial General Indicate Best Rating:                  
Liability:   Indicate Best Financial Classification:                

  
 

Automobile Liability: Indicate Best Rating:                  
Indicate Best Financial Classification:                  

 
2. Is the insurer to be used for Workers’ Compensation insurance listed by Best with a rating 

of no less than A:VII? 
 
    YES    NO 
 
 

Indicate Best Rating:                  
Indicate Best Financial Classification:                

 
If answer is NO, provide name and address of insurer:                                                                                              

 
                                                                                                                              
                                                                                                                                      

 
3. Is the Proposer able to obtain the required types and limits of coverage for this RFP, as 
identified within the solicitation package?  Be sure to carefully review and ascertain that the 
Proposer either has coverage or will place coverage at these or higher levels.   
  

    YES    NO 
 
Please mark the appropriate box: 
 
Coverage is in place __________      Coverage will be placed, without exception  ______ 
 
 
The undersigned declares under penalty of perjury that all of the above insurer information is true 
and correct. 

Attachment F1 
21 of 29

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 76 of 126



RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Submission Deadline:  March 4, 2019 @ 1:00 p.m. 

22  
 
 

 
 
Name                                                           Signature         

Typed or Printed 
 
Date                                                             Title                                                                                  

 (Company Risk Manager or  
 Manager with Risk Authority) 

Attachment F1 
22 of 29

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 77 of 126



RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Submission Deadline:  March 4, 2019 @ 1:00 p.m. 

23  
 
 

 
ATTACHMENT 7 

Drug Free Work Place Form 
 
Drug-Free Work Place: Yes ____________   N/A ___________    
  
If Yes please complete the form.  
  
The undersigned proposer hereby certifies that _____________________________________ 
(Name of Business) does: 
  
Publish statement notifying employees that the unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensing, 
possession, or use of a controlled substance is prohibited in the workplace and specifying the 
actions that will be taken against employees for violations of such prohibition.  
  
Inform employees about the dangers of drug abuse in the workplace, the business’s policy of 
maintaining a drug-free workplace, any available drug counseling, rehabilitation, and employee 
assistance programs, and the penalties that may be imposed upon employees for drug abuse 
violations.  
  
Give each employee engaged in providing the commodities or contractual services that are 
proposed a copy of the statement specified in subsection (1).  
 
In the statement specified in subsection (1), notify the employees that, as a condition of working 
on the commodities or contractual services that are under bid, the employee will abide by the 
terms of the statement and will notify the employer of any conviction of, or plea of guilty or novo 
contender to, any violation of Chapter 893 or of any controlled substance law of the United States 
or any state, for a violation occurring in the workplace no later than five (5) days after such 
conviction.  
  
Impose a sanction on or required the satisfactory participation in a drug abuse assistance or 
rehabilitation program is such is available in the employee’s community, by any employee who is 
so convicted.  
  
Make a good faith effort to continue to maintain a drug-free workplace through implementation 
of this section.  
  
As the person authorized to sign the statement, I certify that this firm complies fully with the 
above requirements.  
 

__________________________________  
Proposer’s Signature  

  
___________________________________  
Date  

  
This form must be completed, signed and returned with your response to fulfill the requirements 
of this RFP 

Attachment F1 
23 of 29

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 78 of 126



RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Submission Deadline:  March 4, 2019 @ 1:00 p.m. 

24  
 
 

ATTACHMENT 8 
 LOCAL VENDOR CERTIFICATION 

 
The undersigned, as a duly authorized representative of the vendor listed herein, certifies to the best of his/her knowledge 
and belief, that the vendor meets the definition of a Local Business.   For purposes of this section, "local business" shall 
mean a business which: 
a) Has had a fixed office located in and having a street address within Leon, Gadsden, Wakulla, or Jefferson County for 

at least six (6) months immediately prior to the issuance of the request for competitive bids or request for proposals 
by the Leon County R&D Authority; and 

b) Holds any business license required by Leon County (or one of the other local counties), and, if applicable, the City of 
Tallahassee; and 

c) Is the principal offeror who is a single offeror; a business which is the prime contractor and not a subcontractor; or a 
partner or joint venturer submitting an offer in conjunction with other businesses. 

Please complete the following in support of the self-certification and submit copies of your County and City business 
licenses.  Failure to provide the information requested will result in denial of certification as a local business. 

 
Business Name: 
 
Current Local Address: 

 
Phone: 
Fax: 

 
If the above address has been for less than six months, please provide the prior address. 
 
 
Length of time at this address: 
 
Home Office Address: 

 
Phone: 
Fax: 

 
______________________________________________  _____________________________ 

       Signature of Authorized Representative     Date 
 
STATE OF ___________________ 
COUNTY OF _________________ 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ____________day of____________, 20___. 

By _____________________________________________, of ___________________________________, 
              (Name of officer or agent, title of officer or agent)         (Name of corporation acknowledging) 

a _________________________________ corporation, on behalf of the corporation.  He/she is personally known to me 
             (State or place of incorporation) 

or has produced _____________________________________________as identification.    
      (type of identification) 

___________________________________________________ 
     Signature of Notary       
                           

___________________________________________________ 
Return Completed form with      Print, Type or Stamp Name of Notary                    
supporting documents to:     
         ___________________________________________________ 
Leon County R&D Authority, Ron Miller               Title or Rank     
1736 W. Paul Dirac Drive 
Tallahassee, Florida 32310    ___________________________________________________ 

              Serial Number, If Any  

Attachment F1 
24 of 29

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 79 of 126



RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Submission Deadline:  March 4, 2019 @ 1:00 p.m. 

25  
 
 

    
ATTACHMENT 9 

 
PROPOSER REGISTRATION FORM 

 
Distribution of Solicitation Documents – Documents related to the subject RFP are being distributed via the LCRDA’s 
website, http://innovation-park.com/opportunities/. 
 
Official Registration - Companies must officially register, before March 4, 2019, in order to be placed on the proposer 
registration list for this solicitation.  This list is used for communications to prospective companies.   

 To register as a proposer, complete the following information in its entirety and email the completed registration 
form to Ron Miller at rmiller@inn-park.com.   

 Potential respondents to the RFP are responsible for reviewing the complete RFP documents and for collecting all 
addenda prior to submitting their response.  Addenda and revisions will not be forwarded automatically.  Potential 
respondents are advised to check the LCRDA’s website http://innovation-park.com/opportunities/ periodically 
and prior to submitting their response. 

 
Name of the Company: 

Company’s Mailing Address: 

City: State: Zip Code: 

Telephone: Fax: E-Mail: 

Primary Contact Person for the Company: 

Contact Person’s Mailing Address: 

City: State: Zip Code: 

Telephone: Fax: E-Mail: 

 
Questions & Answers - Questions concerning the RFP, required submittals, evaluation criteria, response schedule, or 
selection process, and requests for interpretations or corrections of any or actual or perceived ambiguity, inconsistency or 
error which the company may discover shall be directed in writing to Ron Miller.  Such written questions and requests 
shall be: (1) received by Ron Miller no later than February 25, 2019 at 2:00 p.m. EST; (2) signed by a person authorized 
to contractually bind such company; and (3) directed to Ron Miller by the company by e-mail.  Answers to such questions 
will be posted on the LCRDA’s website http://innovation-park.com/opportunities/. 
 
Communication Prohibition - Prospective respondents are cautioned not to contact any officials other than Ron Miller 
concerning this RFP.  
 
Contact Information for Ron Miller –  

 E-mail: rmiller@inn-park.com 
 

Submit completed registration form to Ron Miller via email at rmiller@inn-park.com

Attachment F1 
25 of 29

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 80 of 126



RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Submission Deadline:  March 4, 2019 @ 1:00 p.m. 

26  
 
 

Exhibit “A” 
RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation 

Required Services  
 

All materials are to be provided as specified in Exhibit C.  
 
Required Services: 
1. As shown in Exhibit B remove walls in training room and kitchen, manipulate electrical (light 

switches and plugs) and adjust or replace ceiling grid as needed; relocate thermostat from any 
demo wall as needed 

2. Provide and install 12' "box" cabinets top and bottom with counter top, with sink, faucet and 
basin pump tied into existing hot/cold water and drain; install/relocate electrical outlets for 
refrigerator & counter top; matching "bar" height cabinet and top with appropriate overhang for 
bar seating   

3. In assistant area, build 4' drywall wall with stained wood cap--retain min 36" aisle opening 
4. Provide and install (2) half lite doors with panic exit bars and (1) full lite door as indicated on 

Exhibit B 
5. Repair wall, reinstall existing door & casing in lab and old conference room 
6. Provide and replace all ceiling tiles in all new painted areas 
7. Paint with 2 coats all walls (including touching up drywall) and door casings in areas with new 

floor covering as well as the restrooms 
8. Remove and replace existing carpet and cove base with carpet and LVT as indicated in Exhibit 

B 
9. Provide appropriate transitions between new carpet, new LVT, and existing floor coverings 
10. Contractor shall coordinate owner's vendor installation of electronic door access on all new 

doors 
11. Acquire and pay for all required permits 
12. Remove all debris from site 
13. Site shall be clean and move-in ready upon completion 
14. Access to occupied areas, including common area restrooms shall be maintained and 

coordinated with existing tenant 

Attachment F1 
26 of 29

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 81 of 126



RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Submission Deadline:  March 4, 2019 @ 1:00 p.m. 

27  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit “B” 
RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation 

Required Services Sketch 

Attachment F1 
27 of 29

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 82 of 126



LAB

Main 
Entry

Attachment F1 
28 of 29

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 83 of 126

Ron
Rectangle

Ron
Rectangle

Ron
Rectangle

Ron
Rectangle

Ron
Rectangle

Ron
Rectangle

Ron
Rectangle

Ron
Rectangle

Ron
Rectangle

Ron
Rectangle

Ron
Rectangle

Ron
Rectangle

Ron
Rectangle

Ron
Rectangle

Ron
Group

Ron
Text Box
Carpet

Ron
Rectangle

Ron
Text Box
LVT

Ron
Line

Ron
Line

Ron
Line

Ron
Rectangle

Ron
Rectangle

Ron
Rectangle

Ron
Rectangle

Ron
Text Box
Paint Only

Ron
Line

Ron
Line

Ron
Text Box
Add 1/2 Lite Door (2) with panic exit bar

Ron
Text Box
Add Full Lite Door 

Ron
Text Box
Repair wall, reinstall door & casing (2)

Ron
Oval

Ron
Oval

Ron
Oval

Ron
Line

Ron
Line

Ron
Line

Ron
Line

Ron
Text Box
Remove walls from training room and kitchen

Ron
Line

Ron
Line

Ron
Rectangle

Ron
Text Box
Cabinets

Ron
Text Box

Ron
Text Box
1. As shown in sketch remove walls in training room and kitchen, manipulate electrical (light switches and plugs) and adjust or replace ceiling grid as needed; relocate thermostat from any demo wall as needed2. Provide and install 12' "box" cabinets top and bottom with counter top, with sink, faucet and basin pump tied into existing hot/cold water and drain; install/relocate electrical outlets for refrigerator & counter top; matching "bar" height cabinet and top with appropriate overhang for bar seating  3. In assistant area, build 4' drywall wall with stained wood cap--retain min 36" aisle opening4. Provide and install (2) half lite doors with panic exit bars and (1) full lite door as indicated on sketch5. Repair wall, reinstall existing door & casing in lab and old conference room6. Provide and replace all ceiling tiles in all new painted areas7. Paint with 2 coats all walls (including touching up drywall) and door casings in areas with new floor covering as well as the restrooms8. Remove and replace existing carpet and cove base with carpet and LVT as indicated in sketch9. Provide appropriate transitions between new carpet, new LVT, and existing floor coverings10. Contractor shall coordinate owner's vendor installation of electronic door access on all new doors11. Acquire all required permits12. Remove all debris from site13 Site shall be clean and move-in ready upon completion14. Access to occupied areas, including common area restrooms shall be maintained and coordinated with existing tenant

Ron
Text Box

Ron
Text Box
Space for owner provided 33" refrigerator

Ron
Rectangle

Ron
Line

Ron
Line

Ron
Text Box
1/2 wall in assistant area

Ron
Text Box
Assistant

Ron
Highlight

Ron
Highlight

Ron
Highlight

Ron
Highlight

Ron
Line

Ron
Line

Ron
Text Box
Add wall to enclose training room

Ron
Text Box
Exhibit BRFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation

Ron
Text Box

Ron
Rectangle

Ron
Rectangle

Ron
Rectangle

Ron
Rectangle

Ron
Text Box
Occupied



RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Submission Deadline:  March 4, 2019 @ 1:00 p.m. 

28  
 
 

Exhibit “C” 
RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation 

Material Specifications 
 
 

All materials shall be the same as specified below, or of similar quality to that specified.  
Successful proposer will be required to provide samples to LCRDA for selection and 
approval. 
 
1. Carpet   

 
2. LVT 

 
3. Paint 

 
4. Doors 

 
5. Cabinets, Sink, Faucets 

 
6. Basin Pump 

 
7. ½ Wall 

 

Attachment F1 
29 of 29

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 84 of 126



1

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

This Professional Services Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered into this ____ day of 
______________, 2019 (the “Effective Date”) by and between the Leon County Research and 
Development Authority, a public Authority created pursuant to Chapter 159, Part V, Florida 
Statutes, having its principal place of business in Tallahassee, Florida (the “LCRDA”), 
and_____________________, a State of Florida corporation having its principal place of 
business in Tallahassee, Florida ( the “Contractor”). 

WHEREAS, the LCRDA issued RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation on March 
4, 2019, and;  

WHEREAS, the LCRDA wishes to allow for the Contractor to provide Required Services 
defined in the RFP independent of the LCRDA, and the Contractor desires to provide such 
services; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises hereinafter set forth, and for other 
good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, 
the LCRDA and the Contractor hereby agree as follows: 

1. SERVICES.  The LCRDA hereby allows the Contractor to provide the required services
described in Exhibit “A” attached hereto and made a part hereof (the “Required Services”), upon
the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement.

2. TIME.  The Required Services to be performed under this RFP shall be commenced upon
execution of an agreement and within fifteen (15) days of the Notice to Proceed.  All work to be
performed shall be completed within one-hundred twenty (120) consecutive calendar days of the
Notice to Proceed. If the Required Services are not completed within the time set forth above, or
within such extra time as may be granted by LCRDA, Contractor shall be deemed to be in
default. For each day Contractor is in default, Contractor or its Surety shall pay to LCRDA, not
as a penalty, but as liquidated damages, the amount of $100.00. Permitting the Contractor to
continue and finish the work or any part of it after the expiration of the contract time allowed,
including extensions, if any, shall in no way act as a waiver by the LCRDA of the liquidated
damages due under the contract.

3. COMPENSATION.    The amount of compensation payable by the LCRDA to
Contractor shall be based on the rates and schedules described in Exhibit “B” attached hereto and
made a part hereof.  Unless otherwise specifically provided in Exhibit “B”, payment shall be
made within thirty (30) days after receipt of Contractor’s invoice, which shall be accompanied
by sufficient supporting documentation and contain sufficient detail to allow a proper audit of
expenditures should the LCRDA require one to be performed.

4. COMPLIANCE WITH FEDERAL, STATE AND LOCAL LAWS.  Contractor shall, in
its performance of this Agreement, comply fully with all federal, state, county and other
municipal laws and regulations, as they may be amended from time to time.

Attachment F2 
1 of 11

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 85 of 126



 

 2

5. INSURANCE.    Contractor shall, at all times during the term hereof, maintain the 
insurance coverages as set forth in Exhibit “C” attached hereto and made a part hereof.   

 
6. PERMITS. The Contractor shall pay for all necessary permits as required by law. 
 
7. INDEMNIFICATION.  Contractor shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the 
LCRDA, its partners, officers, directors, shareholders, employees and agents (collectively 
referred to as “Indemnities”) and each of them from and against all loss, costs, penalties, fines, 
damages, claims, expenses (including reasonable attorney’s fees) or liabilities (collectively 
referred to as “Liabilities”) by reason of any injury to or death of any person or damage to or 
destruction or loss of any property arising out of, resulting from or in connection with (i) the 
performance or non-performance of the Required Services contemplated by this Agreement 
which is or is alleged to be directly caused, in whole or in part, by any act, omission, default or 
negligence (whether active or passive) of Contractor or its employees, agents or subcontractors 
(collectively referred to as “Contractor”) or (ii) the failure of the Contractor to comply with any 
of the paragraphs herein or the failure of the Contractor to conform to statutes, ordinances or 
other regulations or requirements of any governmental authority, federal, state or local, in 
connection with the performance of this Agreement.  Contractor expressly agrees to indemnify 
and hold harmless the Indemnities, or any of them, from and against all liabilities which may be 
asserted by an employee or former employee of Contractor, or any of its subcontractors, as 
provided above, for which the Contractor’s liability to such employee or former employee would 
otherwise be limited to payments under state Workers’ Compensation or similar laws.  The 
indemnity set forth herein shall be in addition to those indemnities otherwise provided by law. 
 
8. AUDITS, RECORDS, AND RECORDS RETENTION.  Contractor shall agree as follows: 
 

a. To establish and maintain books, records, and documents (including electronic storage 
media) in accordance with generally accepted accounting procedures and practices, 
which sufficiently and properly reflect all revenues and expenditures of funds provided 
under this contract. 

b. To retain all client records, financial records, supporting documents, statistical records, 
and any other documents (including electronic storage media) pertinent to this contract 
for a period of five (5) years after termination of the contract, or if an audit has been 
initiated and audit findings have not been resolved at the end of five (5) years, the records 
shall be retained until resolution of the audit findings or any litigation which may be 
based on the terms of this contract. 

c. Upon completion or termination of the contract and at the request of the LCRDA, the 
Contractor will cooperate with the LCRDA to facilitate the duplication and transfer of 
any said records or documents during the required retention period as specified 
hereinabove. 

d. To assure that these records shall be subject at all reasonable time to inspection, review, 
or audit by Federal, state, or other personnel duly authorized by the LCRDA.   

e. Persons duly authorized by the LCRDA and Federal auditors, pursuant to 45 CFR Part 
92.36(I)(10), shall have full access to and right to examine any of provider’s contract and 
related records and documents, regardless of the form in which kept, at all reasonable 
times for as long as records are retained. 

Attachment F2 
2 of 11

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 86 of 126



 

 3

f. To include the aforementioned audit and record keeping requirements in all approved 
subcontracts and assignments. 

g. IF THE CONTRACTOR HAS QUESTIONS REGARDING THE 
APPLICATION OF CHAPTER 119, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO THE 
CONTRACTORS DUTY TO PROVIDE PUBLIC RECORDS RELATING 
TO THIS CONTRACT, CONTACT THE CUSTODIAN OF PUBLIC 
RECORD AT: 

LEON COUNTY RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
ATTN: RON MILLER, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
1736 W. PAUL DIRAC DRIVE 
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32310 
PHONE: 850-575-0343 
EMAIL: RMILLER@INN-PARK.COM 

 
9. CANCELLATION OR DEFAULT.  In the event the Contractor’s performance is 
deficient, the LCRDA shall notify the Contractor in writing of the deficiencies and the 
Contractor shall have ten (10) days to correct such deficiencies.  Should the Contractor fail to 
take appropriate action (acceptable to the LCRDA in its sole discretion) to correct such 
deficiencies, the LCRDA, in addition to all remedies available to it by law, may immediately 
upon written notice to Contractor by U.S. Mail terminate this Agreement whereupon all 
payments, advances or other compensation paid by LCRDA to the Contractor while Contractor 
was in default shall be immediately returned to the LCRDA.  Contractor understands and agrees 
that termination of this Agreement under this section shall not release Contractor from any 
obligation accruing prior to the effective date of termination.    

 
10. LCRDA’S RIGHT TO TERMINATE.  The LCRDA shall have the right to terminate this 
Agreement, in its sole discretion, at any time, by giving written notice to Contractor at least 
thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of such termination.  In such event, the LCRDA shall 
pay to Contractor compensation for Required Services rendered and expenses incurred prior to 
the effective date of termination.  In no event shall the LCRDA be liable to Contractor for any 
additional compensation, other than that provided herein, or for any consequential or incidental 
damages. 

 
11. STRIKES OR LOCKOUTS.  In the event the Contractor should become involved in a 
labor dispute, strike or lockout, it shall be required to make whatever arrangements that may be 
necessary to ensure that the conditions of the Contract are met in their entirety.  Should the 
Contractor be unable to fulfill the Contract requirements, the LCRDA reserves the right to make 
alternative arrangements to insure the satisfactory completion of work Contractor is unable to 
perform.  Any costs, provided those costs would have been covered under this Agreement, 
incurred by the LCRDA as a result of such job action shall be the responsibility of the 
Contractor.    

Under no circumstances, shall either party be liable for any loss, damage or delay due to 
any cause beyond either party’s reasonable control, including but not limited to acts of 
government, strikes, lockouts, labor disputes, fires, explosion, theft, weather damage, flood, 
earthquake, riot, civil commotion, war, malicious mischief or act of God.  However, in 

Attachment F2 
3 of 11

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 87 of 126



 

 4

connection with any causes, if the Contractor has a duty to take certain actions, it shall be 
responsible for the losses caused by the Contractor’s negligent acts or omissions.   

Under no circumstances, shall either party be liable for special, indirect or consequential 
damages of any kind including, but not limited to, loss of profits, loss of good will, loss of 
business opportunity, additional financing costs or loss of use of any equipment or property, 
whether in contract, tort, warranty or otherwise, notwithstanding any indemnity provision to the 
contrary. 
 
12. NOTICES.  All notices or other communications required under this Agreement shall be 
in writing and shall be given by hand delivery, by U.S. Mail, or by recognized overnight courier 
at the address indicated herein or to such other address as a party may designate by notice given 
as herein provided.  Notice shall be deemed given on the day on which personally delivered, or if 
by mail, on the fifth day after being posted or the date of actual delivery, whichever is earlier, or 
if by courier, on the date of receipt. 
 

If to Contractor: 
 
[NEED CONTRACTOR INFO] 
 
 
 
 
If to LCRDA: 

 
Leon County Research and Development Authority  
1736 West Paul Dirac Drive  

 Tallahassee, FL 32310  
Attention: Ron Miller, Executive Director  
Rmiller@inn-park.com 
 

With copies to:  
 

Broad and Cassell 
Attention:  Melissa VanSickle 
215 South Monroe Street, Suite 400 
Tallahassee, FL 32301 
mvansickle@broadandcassesel.com 

 
13. MISCELLANEOUS 
 

a. This Agreement shall be construed and enforced according to the laws of the State 
of Florida.  Venue for all purposes shall be Leon County, Florida. 

b. The captions in this Agreement are inserted for convenience of reference and in 
no way define, describe or limit the scope or intent of the provisions of this 
Agreement. 

Attachment F2 
4 of 11

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 88 of 126



 

 5

c. No waiver or breach of any provision of this Agreement shall constitute a waiver 
of any subsequent breach of the same or any other provision hereof, and no 
waiver shall be effective unless made in writing. 

d. Should any provision, paragraph, sentence, word or phrase contained in this 
Agreement be determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, 
illegal or otherwise unenforceable under the laws of the State of Florida, such 
provision, paragraph, sentence, word or phrase shall be deemed modified to the 
extent necessary in order to conform with such laws or if not modifiable, then 
same shall be deemed severable, and in either event, the remaining terms and 
provisions of this Agreement shall remain unmodified and in full force and effect 
or limitation of its use. 

e. The filing of any petitions in bankruptcy whether voluntary or involuntary on the 
part of Contractor, shall give LCRDA the right to terminate this Agreement. 

f. No amendment, change or modification of this Agreement shall be valid or 
binding upon the parties unless same shall be in writing and signed by the parties.  

g. This agreement, including all attachments and exhibits thereto, constitutes the full 
agreement of the parties and there are no further or other agreements, statements 
or warranties, whether written or oral, relied upon or in between them relating to 
the subject matter hereof, except as expressly herein stated.  This Agreement shall 
inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties, their successors and 
assigns. 

h. This Agreement shall not be assigned by Contractor, in whole or in part, without 
the prior written consent of the LCRDA, which may be withheld or conditioned, 
in the LCRDA’s sole discretion, and any such purported assignment in breach of 
this Agreement shall be null and void.  The LCRDA reserves the right to assign 
this Agreement without first obtaining the consent of Contractor.   

i. The prevailing party in any action or proceeding to enforce this Agreement or for 
damages or declaratory relief in connection herewith shall be entitled to recover 
its reasonable costs and expenses, including attorney’s fees, and costs through 
litigation, all appeals and any bankruptcy proceedings.  LCRDA’s liability to pay 
such costs and expenses shall be limited to the extent provided in Section 768.28 
Florida Statutes, as may be amended from time to time.  Nothing herein shall be 
construed to be a waiver of LCRDA’s sovereign immunity. 

j. Contractor shall be an independent contractor and not an employee, partner or 
joint venture of LCRDA under this Agreement.  Contractor shall be responsible 
for all income taxes, social security taxes, self-employment taxes and any other 
taxes to which Contractor or LCRDA may be subject to as a result of this 
Agreement or Contractor’s performance hereunder. 

k. Contractor shall comply with all LCRDA rules and regulations, as they may be 
amended from time to time, governing access to and conduct on the property. 

Attachment F2 
5 of 11

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 89 of 126



 

 6

[The remainder of this page intentionally left blank] 

Attachment F2 
6 of 11

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 90 of 126



 

 7

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement on the date first 
written above.         

 

THE CONTRACTOR  
[NEED CONTRACTOR NAME] 
a State of Florida corporation 
 
 
By: ___________________________________ 
 
Name: _____________________ 
 
Title: ______________________ 
       
 
THE LCRDA 
Leon County Research and Development Authority, 
a public Authority created pursuant to Chapter 159, Part V, Florida Statutes 
 
 
By: _______________________________________ 
Name: David B. Ramsay 
Title:   Chair 

 
       

Attachment F2 
7 of 11

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 91 of 126



 

 8

 
 

EXHIBIT A 
REQUIRED SERVICES 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

[Final agreement to be updated to reflect RFP Required Services including any supporting 
detail.] 

Attachment F2 
8 of 11

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 92 of 126



 

 9

EXHIBIT B 
COMPENSATION 

 
 
 

PRICE SCHEDULE 

 
 
COST OF REQUIRED SERVICES 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 [Final agreement to be updated to reflect RFP price and payment proposal 
including any supporting detail.] 
 

Attachment F2 
9 of 11

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 93 of 126



 

 10

EXHIBIT C 
INSURANCE 

 
a. CONTRACTOR’S INSURANCE.  Contractor shall, at its sole cost, maintain limits no less 

than the following throughout the Term: 

i. General Liability.  $1,000,000 combined single limit per occurrence for 
bodily injury, personal injury and property damage with a $2,000,000 annual 
aggregate.  Contractor’s insurance shall include LCRDA as an additional 
insured as provided herein below. 

ii. Automobile Liability:  $1,000,000 combined single limit per accident for 
bodily injury and property damage for non-owned, hired automobile.  
Contractor’s insurance shall include LCRDA as an additional insured as 
provided herein below. The requirements of this provision may be waived 
upon submission by Contractor of a written statement that no automobiles 
are used to conduct business. 

iii. Worker’s Compensation and Employers Liability:  Insurance covering all 
employees meeting statutory requirements in compliance with the applicable 
state and federal laws.  In lieu of naming LCRDA as an additional insured, 
Contractor shall provide to LCRDA a waiver of all rights of subrogation 
against LCRDA with respect to losses payable under such workers’ 
compensation policy(ies). 

b. AMENDED INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS.  LCRDA reserves the right to reasonably 
amend the insurance requirements to standards reasonable and customary for the size and 
type of business being conducted by Contractor by the issuance of a notice in writing to 
Contractor.  The Contractor shall provide any other insurance or security reasonably 
required by LCRDA.   

c. DEDUCTIBLES AND SELF-INSURED RETENTIONS.  Any deductibles or self-insured 
retentions applicable to any of Contractor’s policies required above shall be declared to and 
approved by LCRDA.  Thereafter, at the request of LCRDA, Contractor shall cause its 
insurer to reduce or eliminate such deductibles or self-insured retentions as they may apply 
to LCRDA, its agents, officers, officials, employees and volunteers or, in lieu of such 
reductions or eliminations, Contractor shall procure a bond guaranteeing payment of losses 
and related investigations, claims administration, and defense expenses. 

d. LCRDA AS ADDITIONAL INSURED.  LCRDA, its agents, officers, officials, employees, 
and volunteers are to be named and covered as additional insureds, with no limitations on 
the scope of protection afforded, in all of Contractor’s insurance policies, other than 
workers’ compensation policies, that include coverage for the following: 

i. liability arising from, or in connection with, activities performed by, or on 
behalf of, Contractor; 

ii. products and completed operations of Contractor; 

iii. premises owned, occupied, or used by Contractor; or 

iv. automobiles owned, leased, hired, or borrowed by Contractor. 

Attachment F2 
10 of 11

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 94 of 126



 

 11

e. CONTRACTOR’S INSURANCE AS PRIMARY.  With regard to claims for injuries to 
persons or damages to property which may arise from, or in connection with, the 
performance by Contractor, its agents, representatives, employees, and/or subcontractors of 
the rights, duties and responsibilities pursuant to this Agreement, Contractor’s insurance 
coverage shall be primary insurance with respect to LCRDA, its agents, officers, officials, 
employees, and volunteers.  As such, any insurance or self-insurance maintained by 
LCRDA, its agents, officers, officials, employees, or volunteers shall be excess of 
Contractor’s insurance and shall not contribute with it.  In such instances when Contractor’s 
insurance coverage is primary, Contractor hereby waives all rights of subrogation against 
LCRDA with respect to losses payable under such insurance coverage. 

f. CERTIFICATES OF INSURANCE.  Contractor shall furnish LCRDA with certificates of 
insurance and with any original endorsements evidencing the coverages described above.  
Such certificates shall be signed by a person authorized by that insurer to bind coverage on 
its behalf.  All certificates and endorsements are to be received and approved by LCRDA 
prior to the commencement of Contractor’s services under this Agreement.  LCRDA 
reserves the right to require complete, certified copies of all Contractor’s required insurance 
policies at any time.  Each of Contractor’s required insurance policies shall be endorsed to 
state that coverage shall not be suspended, voided, cancelled by either party, or reduced in 
coverage or in limits except after thirty (30) days prior written notice by certified mail, 
return receipt requested, has been given to LCRDA.  All of Contractor’s required insurance 
policies shall be placed with insurers with a Best’s rating of no less than A:VII and which 
are licensed in the state of Florida. 

g. OTHER ENDORSEMENTS REQUIREMENTS FOR CONTRACTOR’S INSURANCE.  Each of 
Contractor’s required insurance policies shall contain endorsements for, or otherwise 
provide, the following: 

i. that any failure to comply with the reporting provisions of the policies shall 
not affect coverage provided to LCRDA, its agents, officers, officials, 
employees, or volunteers; 

ii. that, to the extent of insurer’s limits of liability, Contractor’s insurance 
coverage shall apply separately to each insured against whom claims are 
made or suit is brought; and 

iii. that the companies issuing the insurance policy(ies) shall have no recourse 
against LCRDA for payment of premiums or assessments for any 
deductibles which are the sole responsibility and risk of Contractor. 

 
 

Attachment F2 
11 of 11

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 95 of 126



INNOVATION PARK 
REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 

RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation 

The Leon County Research and Development Authority (“Authority”) is requesting proposals 
for the repair and renovation services for the Collins Building at Innovation Park, which 
proposals shall be due 1:00 PM (EST), Monday, March 4, 2019. Specific requirements are 
included in the RFP package; however, the services will generally include replacement of 
flooring & ceiling tiles, wall painting, a few partition wall and door adjustments and repairs, 
and conversion of office space into a kitchen/breakroom. The Authority intends to award a 
single contract for these services. The area to be renovated is approximately 6,000 square feet. 

A required pre-submittal conference meeting and walk-through of the job site will be held at 
the Innovation Park Collins Building, 2051 E. Paul Dirac Drive, Tallahassee, Florida, at 10:00 
AM on Monday, February 18, 2019.  

Once the RFP is advertised, all communications between interested firms and the Authority 
shall be limited to written communications directed to the contact person below.   

The formal RFP package may be obtained from and any inquiries are to be directed to: 

Ron Miller, Executive Director 
Leon County R&D Authority 
1736 W. Paul Dirac Drive 
Tallahassee, FL 32310 
Email:  rmiller@inn-park.com 

Or 
Via the Internet at http://innovation-park.com/opportunities/ 

The Board in its sole discretion may reject any or all proposals when deemed in the best interest of the 
Authority. 

FOR PUBLICATION February 8, 2019 and February 11, 2019. 

Attachment F3 
1 of 1

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 96 of 126



4824-8661-7955 
44809/0012

ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION 
OF 

INNOVATION PARK TLH, INC. 

The undersigned incorporator, being competent to contract, subscribes to these Articles of 
Incorporation to form a corporation not-for-profit under the laws of the State of Florida. 

ARTICLE I - Name 

The name of the Corporation shall be INNOVATION PARK TLH, INC. (the "Corporation"). 

ARTICLE II - Principal Office and Mailing Address 

The address of the principal office and the mailing address of the Corporation is 1736 W. Paul 
Dirac Drive, Tallahassee, Florida 32310. 

ARTICLE III - Purpose 

A. The Corporation is organized exclusively for charitable, religious, scientific,
educational, or literary purposes, including, for such purposes, the making of distributions to 
organizations that qualify as exempt organizations under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue 
Code of 1986, as amended (or the corresponding provision of any future United States Internal 
Revenue law) (the "Code").  Specifically, in compliance with the educational exempt purposes as 
specified in Treasury Regulation Section 1.501(c)(3)-1(d)(3), the Corporation will perform business 
educational services to individuals and entrepreneurs interested in forming a business or improving 
an existing business with an expectation that the individuals who have graduated from the programs 
will locate and operate their profit-oriented business in the Leon County, Florida region, and will 
instruct the public on the benefits of operating a business in the Leon County, Florida region. The 
Corporation will provide certain fee-supported programs, facilities, technology, equipment and other 
resources to educate entrepreneurs and nurture their companies toward successfully 
commercializing higher education and other locally created technologies.  The Corporation will 
charge reasonable fees and/or tuition to the individuals and companies enrolling in its programs.  

B. The Corporation is organized for purposes of engaging in any activity or business
permitted under the laws of the United States and of the State of Florida and shall have all of the 
powers enumerated in the Florida Not For Profit Corporation Act, as the same now exists and as 
hereafter amended, and all such other powers as are permitted by applicable law. 

C No part of the net earnings of the Corporation shall inure to the benefit of, or be 
distributable to, the Corporation's directors, officers, or other private persons, except that the 
Corporation shall be authorized and empowered to pay reasonable compensation for services rendered 
and to make payments and distributions in furtherance of the purposes set forth in this Article.  No 
substantial part of the activities of the Corporation shall be the carrying on of propaganda, or otherwise 
attempting to influence legislation, and the Corporation shall not participate in, or intervene in 
(including the publication or distribution of statements) any political campaign on behalf of, or in 
opposition to, any candidate for public office. 

Attachment G1 
1 of 6

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 97 of 126



 

   
4824-8661-7955 
44809/0012 

2

 
 D. Notwithstanding any other provision of these Articles, the Corporation shall not carry 
on any other activities not permitted to be carried on by (i) a corporation exempt from federal income 
tax under Section 501(c)(3) of the Code, or (ii) by a corporation, contributions to which are deductible 
under Section 170(c)(2) of the Code.  
 
 E. In the event the Corporation is classified as a private foundation under Section 509 of 
the Code, (i) the Corporation shall distribute its income each taxable year at such time and in such 
manner as not to subject itself to tax under Section 4942 of the Code, and (ii) the Corporation shall 
not engage in any act of self-dealing (as defined in Section 4941(d) of the Code), retain any excess 
business holdings (as defined in Section 4943(c) of the Code), make any investments in such manner 
as to subject itself to tax under Section 4944 of the Code, nor make any taxable expenditures (as 
defined in Section 4945(d) of the Code). 
 
 ARTICLE IV - Term of Existence 
 
 The effective date upon which the Corporation shall come into existence shall be the date of 
filing of these Articles, and it shall exist perpetually thereafter unless dissolved according to law. 
 
 ARTICLE V - Initial Registered Office and Agent 
 
 The street address of the initial registered office of the Corporation is 1736 W. Paul Dirac 
Drive, Tallahassee, Florida 32310, and the name of the initial registered agent of the Corporation at 
that address is Ronald J. Miller, Jr. 
 
 ARTICLE VI - Directors 
 
 A. The initial number of directors of the Corporation shall be three.   
 
 B. The number of directors may be either increased or diminished from time to time by 
the Board of Directors in accordance with the Bylaws of the Corporation, but there shall always be at 
least three directors. 
 
 C. Directors, as such, shall receive such compensation for their services, if any, as may 
be set by the Board of Directors at any annual or special meeting thereof.  The Board of Directors 
may authorize and require the payment of reasonable expenses incurred by directors in attending 
meetings of the Board of Directors. 
 
 D. Nothing in this Article shall be construed to preclude the directors from serving the 
Corporation in any other capacity and receiving compensation therefor. 
  

Attachment G1 
2 of 6

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 98 of 126



 

   
4824-8661-7955 
44809/0012 

3

 E. The names and street addresses of the initial members of the Board of Directors are: 
 

 Name    Street Address 
 
David B. Ramsay    9048 Shoal Creek Drive 
     Tallahassee, FL 32312 
 
Kim Williams    2069 Cantigny Way 
     Tallahassee, FL 32308 
 
April Salter     117 S. Gadsden Street 

 Tallahassee, FL 32301 
   
 F. Directors shall be elected, appointed, and removed as provided in the Bylaws of the 
Corporation. 
 
 ARTICLE VII - Incorporator 
 
 The name and street address of the incorporator signing these Articles is: 
 
 Name     Street Address 
 
 Melissa VanSickle   215 South Monroe Street, Suite 400 
      Tallahassee, Florida  32301 
 
 
 ARTICLE VIII - Amendment to Articles 
 
 These Articles of Incorporation may be amended in the manner provided by law. 
 
 ARTICLE IX - Bylaws 
 
 The power to adopt, alter, amend or repeal Bylaws shall be vested in the Board of Directors. 
 
 ARTICLE X - Dissolution 
 
 A. Upon the dissolution of the Corporation, the Board of Directors shall, after paying or 
making provision for the payment of all of the liabilities of the Corporation, dispose of all the assets 
of the Corporation in a manner not inconsistent with the purposes of the Corporation, including to 
such organization or organizations organized and operated exclusively for tax-exempt purposes, as 
shall at the time qualify as an exempt organization or organizations under Section 501(c)(3) of the 
Code, as the Board of Directors shall determine.   
 
 B. Any assets not disposed of by the Board of Directors as provided herein, shall be 
disposed of by a court of competent jurisdiction in the county in which the principal office of the 
Corporation is then located, exclusively for tax-exempt purposes or to such organizations, which are 

Attachment G1 
3 of 6

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 99 of 126



 

   
4824-8661-7955 
44809/0012 

4

organized and operated exclusively for tax-exempt purposes and which qualify as an exempt 
organization under Section 501(c)(3) of the Code. 
 

[Signatures contained on the following page] 
  

Attachment G1 
4 of 6

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 100 of 126



 

   
4824-8661-7955 
44809/0012 

5

 WHEREOF, the undersigned Incorporator has executed these Articles of Incorporation this 
___ day of ________, 2019. 
 
      By:       

Melissa VanSickle 
 
 
 
           
 ACCEPTANCE OF APPOINTMENT AS REGISTERED AGENT 
 
 
 The undersigned is familiar with the obligations of the registered agent and hereby accepts 
the appointment to serve as the initial Registered Agent of INNOVATION PARK TLH, INC. 
 
        

By:       
Ronald J. Miller, Jr. 

 
 
Dated the ____ day of ________, 2019. 
 
 

Attachment G1 
5 of 6

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 101 of 126



 

4824-8661-7955 
44809/0012 

 

Attachment G1 
6 of 6

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 102 of 126



4831-6343-4373 
44809/0012

BYLAWS 

OF 

INNOVATION PARK TLH, INC. 

ARTICLE I 

Offices 

The principal office of the Corporation in the State of Florida shall be located at 1736 W. Paul 
Dirac Drive, Tallahassee, Florida, County of Leon.  The Corporation may have offices at other places 
within or without the State of Florida as the board of directors may from time to time determine or as the 
business of the Corporation may require. 

The address of the Corporation’s registered office, required by Florida law to be maintained in 
the State of Florida, may be changed from time to time by the board of directors.  The registered office 
may be, but need not be, identical to the Corporation’s principal office in the State of Florida. 

ARTICLE II 

Directors 

Section 1. Board of Directors.  The business of the Corporation shall be managed and its 
corporate powers exercised by a board of three or more directors. 

(a) Directors are not required to be residents of this state or members of this Corporation,
but must be at least 18 years of age. 

(b) The board of directors shall have authority to fix the compensation, if any, of the
directors; 

(c) A director of the Corporation who is present at a meeting of the board of directors at
which action on any corporate matter is taken shall be presumed to have assented to the action taken 
unless the director votes against the action or abstains from voting in respect to it because of an 
asserted conflict of interest. 

(d) A director shall perform his or her duties as a director, including his or her duties as a
member of any committee of the board of directors upon which he or she may serve, in good faith, in 
a manner he or she reasonably believes to be in the best interests of the Corporation, and with such 
care as an ordinarily prudent person in a like position would use under similar circumstances. 

(e) In performing his or her duties, a director shall be entitled to rely on information,
opinions, reports, or statements, including financial statements and other financial data, in each case 
prepared or presented by: (i) one or more officers or employees of the Corporation whom the director 
reasonably believes to be reliable and competent in the matters presented; (ii) legal counsel, public 
accountants or other persons as to matters which the director reasonably believes to be within such 
persons’ professional or expert competence; or (iii) a committee of the board upon which he or she 
does not serve, duly designated in accordance with a provision of the Articles of Incorporation or these 

Attachment G2 
1 of 12

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 103 of 126



 
 

2 
4831-6343-4373 
44809/0012 

Bylaws, as to matters within its designated authority, which committee the directors reasonably 
believe to merit confidence. 

(f) In performing his or her duties, a director may consider such factors as the director 
deems relevant, including the long term prospects and interest of the Corporation, and the social, 
economic, legal, or other effects of any action on the employees, suppliers, or customers of the 
Corporation or its subsidiaries, the communities and society in which the Corporation or its 
subsidiaries operate, and the economy of the state and nation. 

(g) A director shall not be considered to be acting in good faith if he or she has knowledge 
concerning the matter in question that would cause such reliance described in Section l(e) of this 
Article II to be unwarranted. 

(h) A person who performs his or her duties in compliance with Section 1 of this Article 
II shall have no liability by reason of being or having been a director of the Corporation. 

(i) A director is not personally liable for monetary damages to the Corporation or any 
other person for any statement, vote, decision, or failure to act, regarding corporate management or 
policy, unless: 

(1) The director breached or failed to perform his duties as a director; and 

(2) The breach or failure constitutes any one of the following: 

(A) A violation of the criminal law, unless the director had reasonable cause 
to believe his or her conduct was lawful or no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was 
unlawful; 

(B) A transaction from which he or she derived an improper personal 
benefit, as that term is defined in accordance with Fla. Stat. Section 607.0831; 

(C) In a derivative or other proceeding, conscious disregard for the best 
interests of the Corporation or willful misconduct; or 

(D) In a proceeding by another third party, recklessness or an act or 
omission committed in bad faith, or with malicious purpose, or in a manner exhibiting wanton and 
willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property.  “Recklessness” is defined to mean an act or 
omission to act in conscious disregard of a risk: 

(i) Known, or so obvious that it should have been known to the 
director; and 

(ii) Known to the director, or so obvious that it should have been 
known to be so great as to make it highly probable that harm would follow from such action or 
omission. 

(j) Notwithstanding the above provisions, directors may be immune from civil liability 
pursuant to Florida Statutes, Section 617.0834. 

Attachment G2 
2 of 12

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 104 of 126



 
 

3 
4831-6343-4373 
44809/0012 

Section 2. Number, Election, and Term of Directors. 

(a) The exact number of directors making up the board shall be the number from time to 
time fixed by resolution of majority of the full board at any meeting thereof, except as to the number 
constituting the initial board of directors, which number shall be fixed by the Articles of Incorporation, 
and further provided that LCRDA (as defined herein) must approve in writing the increase in the 
number of directors.  No decrease in the number of the board shall have the effect of shortening the 
term of any incumbent director.  At no time shall the number of directors making up the board be less 
than three. 

(b) Each person named in the Articles of Incorporation as a member of the initial board of 
directors shall hold office until his or her resignation, removal from office, death, or the expiration of 
his or her term.  The term of each director shall be determined by the full board of directors, at the 
initial meeting of the board of directors or, for subsequently appointed directors, at such time as each 
director is appointed. 

(c) At the annual meeting of the directors, the directors shall elect a chairman of the board 
who shall serve until the next annual meeting.  The chairman of the board shall preside at all meetings 
of the board of directors. 

Section 3. Vacancies.  Vacancies in the board of directors, whether occurring by reason 
of an increase in the size of the board, or the death, resignation, disqualification, or removal of a 
director, or the expiration of a director’s term, shall be filled by the affirmative vote of the majority of 
the full board of remaining directors, even if the remaining directors do not constitute a quorum, but 
provided that LCRDA has a right to appoint the majority of the directors. A director appointed to fill 
a vacancy shall hold office until the expiration of the term of the position he or she has filled, or his 
or her earlier resignation, removal, or death. 

Section 4. Annual and Regular Meetings of the Board.  The annual meeting of the board 
of directors shall be held in each year.  Regular meetings of the board shall be held at such place and 
time thereafter during the year as the board of directors may fix.  Annual or regular meetings of the 
board of directors shall be held within Leon County, Florida, and no notice need be given any director 
concerning any annual or regular meeting.  Members of the board of directors may participate in any 
regular or special meeting by means of Electronic Participation, as set forth below.   

Section 5. Special Meetings of the Board.  Special meetings of the board of directors may 
be called at any time and place by the President, the Chairman of the board, or by a majority of the 
directors.  Notice of each special meeting shall be given by the Secretary to each director not less than 
seventy-two (72) hours before the meeting.  Notice of a special meeting may be given by telephone.  
Notice of a special meeting of the board, however, need not be given to any director who signs a 
waiver of notice either before or after the meeting.  Attendance of a director at a special meeting shall 
constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting and waiver of any and all objections to the place of the 
meeting, the time of the meeting, or the manner in which it has been called or convened, except when 
a director states, at the beginning of the meeting, any objection to the transaction of business because 
the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.  Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the 
purpose of, any special meeting of the board of directors need be specified in the notice or waiver of 

Attachment G2 
3 of 12

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 105 of 126



 
 

4 
4831-6343-4373 
44809/0012 

notice of such meeting.  Special meetings of the board of directors may be held by means of Electronic 
Participation, as set forth below. 

Section 6. Electronic Participation, Quorum and Voting.   

(a) “Electronic Means” for participating in meetings may include the use of such devices 
as a conference telephone or any other communications media that allows the absent directors to 
participate in discussions, and to be heard at the same time by other directors and the public during 
the meeting. Participation via Electronic Means by an absent member of the board of directors in a 
regular, special, or committee meeting of the board shall be permitted only when such absence is due 
to extraordinary circumstances such as serious illness. Whether the absence of a director due to any 
other reason constitutes such an extraordinary circumstance shall be determined by majority vote of 
the directors present at such a meeting where a quorum is present. If more directors are approved to 
participate via electronic means than can be accommodated by available Electronic Means, then 
directors will be accommodated in the order the requests were received.  

(b) Unless provided otherwise by the Articles of Incorporation, a majority of the number 
of directors fixed in the manner provided in these Bylaws shall constitute a quorum for the transaction 
of business. Only those directors who are physically present at a meeting shall be deemed present for 
purposes of determining the presence of a quorum. For all other purposes of these Bylaws directors 
shall be deemed present at such meeting if participating by Electronic Means in addition to those who 
are physically present at a meeting.  

(c) The act of a majority of directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present 
shall be the act of the board of directors, unless provided to the contrary in the Articles of 
Incorporation.  A director who is present at a meeting on which action on any corporate matter is taken 
shall be deemed in favor of the action taken, unless he or she votes against the action or abstains from 
voting with respect thereto because of an asserted conflict of interest.   

(d) A majority of the directors present, whether or not a quorum exists, may adjourn any 
meeting of the board of directors to another time and place.  Notice of any such adjourned meeting 
shall be given to the directors who were not present at the time of adjournment and, unless the time 
and place of the adjourned meeting are announced at the time of the adjournment, to the other 
directors. 

Section 7. Director Conflict of Interest. 

(a) A conflict of interest transaction is a transaction with the Corporation in which a 
director of the Corporation has a direct or indirect interest.  A conflict of interest transaction is not 
voidable by the Corporation solely because of the director’s interest in the transaction if either of the 
following is true: 

(1) The material facts of the transaction and the director’s interest were disclosed 
or known to the board of directors or a committee of the board of directors and the board of directors 
or committee authorized, approved, or ratified the transaction; or 

Attachment G2 
4 of 12

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 106 of 126



 
 

5 
4831-6343-4373 
44809/0012 

(2) The transaction was fair and reasonable to the Corporation at the time it is 
authorized by the board or a committee. 

(b) For purposes of this section, a director of the Corporation has an indirect interest in a 
transaction if (1) another entity in which he or she has a material financial interest or in which he or 
she is a general partner is a party to the transaction, or (2) another entity of which he or she is a 
director, officer, or trustee is a party to the transaction and the transaction is or should be considered 
by the board of directors of the Corporation. A director of the Corporation does not have an indirect 
interest in a transaction with LCRDA under subsection (b)(2) simply by virtue of also being a director, 
officer or trustee of LCRDA. 

(c) For purposes of subsection (a)(1), a conflict of interest transaction is authorized, 
approved, or ratified if it receives the affirmative vote of a majority of the directors on the board of 
directors (or on the committee) who have no direct or indirect interest in the transaction, but a 
transaction may not be authorized, approved, or ratified under this section by a single director.  If a 
majority of the directors who have no direct or indirect interest in the transaction vote to authorize, 
approve, or ratify the transaction, a quorum is present for the purpose of taking action under this 
section.  The presence of, or a vote cast by, a director with a direct or indirect interest in the transaction 
does not affect the validity of any action taken under subsection (a)(1) if the transaction is otherwise 
authorized, approved, or ratified as provided in that subsection. 

(d) Directors shall additionally adhere to the conflict of interest provisions of Chapter 112, 
Florida Statutes. 

Section 8. Public Meetings and Records.  Given the intended business relationship with Leon 
County Research and Development Authority (“LCRDA”), a public body governed by Chapter 159, 
Florida Statutes, all meetings of the board of directors are declared public meetings subject to Section 
286.011, Florida Statutes, and must be properly noticed, open to the public, and minutes of the meeting 
promptly recorded and available for public inspection. No resolution, rule, or formal action shall be 
considered binding except as taken or made at such meeting. Directors are forbidden from discussing 
outside of a public meeting any item of business which could foreseeably come before the board of 
directors  Each member of the Board shall also file a statement of financial interest within thirty (30) 
days of the date of the appointment in accordance with Section 112.3145, Florida Statutes.   

Section 9. Executive and Other Committees.  The board of directors, by resolution 
adopted by a majority of the full board, may designate three or more of its members to constitute an 
executive committee and one or more other committees, each of which, to the extent provided in such 
resolution, shall have and may exercise all the authority of the board of directors, except that no 
committee shall have authority to: 

(1) Fill vacancies on the board of directors or any committee thereof; or 

(2) Amend the Bylaws; 

The board, by resolution adopted in accordance with this section, may designate one or more directors 
as alternate members of a committee who may act in the place of any absent member or members at 

Attachment G2 
5 of 12

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 107 of 126



 
 

6 
4831-6343-4373 
44809/0012 

any meeting of the committee, may fill vacancies in such committee, discharge any or all members of 
such committee, with or without cause, at any time, or may dissolve or deactivate such committee. 

Section 10. Removal of Directors.  At a special meeting of directors called expressly for 
that purpose, any director or the entire board of directors may be removed with or without cause by a 
vote of a majority of the full board of directors.  In the event that all directors are removed 
simultaneously, LCRDA shall appoint the majority of the new directors.  If such director is a member 
of the executive committee or any other committee of the board of directors, he or she shall cease to 
be a member of that committee when he or she ceases to be a director. 

ARTICLE III 
 

Officers 

Section 1. Officers.  This Corporation shall have a President, a Vice President, a Secretary, 
a Treasurer, and such other officers, assistant officers, and agents as the board from time to time shall 
deem advisable.  Corporate officers shall be elected by the board at the annual meeting of the board 
and shall hold office for the term of one (1) year and until their successors are elected and qualified, 
unless sooner removed by the board of directors.  Any person may hold two or more offices.  The 
failure to elect a President, Secretary, or Treasurer shall not affect the existence of the Corporation. 

Section 2. Executive Director. The Executive Director shall have full authority to act on 
behalf of the Corporation within limits established by the board of directors. In the absence of the 
appointment of any other officers, the Executive Director shall have the powers and obligations of the 
President, Secretary and Treasurer until such time as the board appoints individuals to these officer 
positions. 

Section 3. President.  The President shall be the chief executive officer of the Corporation 
and, in the absence of the chairman of the board of directors, shall preside at all meetings of the board 
of directors of the Corporation, shall have general supervision of the affairs of the Corporation, shall 
make reports to the directors, shall execute all instruments in the name of the Corporation and inscribe 
the seal where necessary or required, and shall perform all such other duties as are incident to his or 
her office or are properly required of him or her by the board of directors.  The President shall be 
authorized to execute all documents on behalf of the Corporation without the necessity of joinder or 
attestation of any other officer. 

Section 4. Vice President.  If elected or appointed, the Vice President, in the absence or 
disability of the President, shall exercise the power and shall perform the duties of the President and 
shall exercise such other power and perform such other duties as the board of directors may prescribe. 

Section 5. Secretary.  The Secretary shall keep the minutes of all proceedings of the 
directors, shall attend to the giving and serving of all notices to the directors or other notice required 
by law or by these Bylaws, shall affix the seal of the Corporation to deeds, contracts, and other 
instruments or writings requiring a seal, when duly signed or when so ordered by the directors, shall 
authenticate records of the Corporation, shall have charge of all of the corporate records (except the 
financial records) and such other books and papers as the board may direct, and shall perform all other 
duties incident to the office of Secretary. 

Attachment G2 
6 of 12

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 108 of 126



 
 

7 
4831-6343-4373 
44809/0012 

Section 6. Treasurer.  The Treasurer shall have custody of all corporate funds, securities, 
financial records, and evidences of indebtedness of the Corporation, shall receive and give receipts 
and acquittances for monies paid in on account of the Corporation, shall pay out of the funds on hand 
all bills, payrolls, and other just debts of the Corporation, of whatsoever nature, upon maturity, shall 
enter regularly in books to be kept by him or her for that purposes, full and accurate accounts of all 
monies received and paid out by him or her on account of the Corporation, and shall perform all other 
duties incident to the office of Treasurer and as may be prescribed by the directors. 

Section 7. Other Officers.  Other officers and agents shall be subject to the supervision of 
and shall be responsible to perform the duties prescribed by the board of directors. 

Section 8. Vacancies.  A vacancy in any office due to death, resignation, removal, 
disqualification, creation of a new position, or any other reason may be filled by the board of directors 
for the unexpired portion of the term. 

Section 9. Removal.  Any officer or agent may be removed from office with or without 
cause by the board of directors.  In the case of the President, such removal shall be by a vote of not 
less than a majority of the full board of directors whenever, in the board’s judgment, the removal will 
serve the best interests of the Corporation, but removal shall be without prejudice to the contract rights, 
if any, of the person removed. Removal of any other officer may be either by a majority of the whole 
membership of the board of directors or by the President.  Election or appointment of an officer or 
agent shall not of itself create contract rights. 

Section 10. Salaries.  The salaries, if any, of all officers of the Corporation shall be fixed 
by the board of directors.   

ARTICLE IV 
 

Books and Records 

The Corporation shall keep correct and complete books and records of account and shall keep as 
permanent records minutes of the proceedings of its board of directors and committees of directors.  Any 
books, records, and minutes may be in written form or in any other form capable of being converted into 
written form within a reasonable time. 

ARTICLE V 
 

Corporate Indemnification Plan 

Section 1. Definitions.   For purposes of this Article V, the following terms shall have the 
meanings hereafter ascribed to them: 

(a) “Corporation” includes, as the context may require, Innovation Park TLH, Inc., any 
resulting corporation and any constituent corporation (including any constituent of a constituent) 
absorbed in a consolidation or merger, so that any person who is or was a director or officer of a 
constituent corporation, or is or was serving at the request of a constituent corporation as a director or 
officer of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, is in the same 

Attachment G2 
7 of 12

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 109 of 126



 
 

8 
4831-6343-4373 
44809/0012 

position with respect to the resulting or surviving corporation as he or she would have been with 
respect to such constituent corporation if its separate existence had continued. 

(b) “Expenses” include, without limitation, all costs, expenses, attorneys’ fees, and 
paralegal expenses incurred by the director or officer in, for or related to the Proceeding or in 
connection with investigating, preparing to defend, defending, being a witness in or participating in 
the Proceeding, including such costs, expenses, attorneys’ fees and paralegal expenses incurred on 
appeal.  Such attorneys’ fees shall include without limitation, (a) attorneys’ fees incurred by the 
director or officer in any and all judicial or administrative proceedings, including appellate 
proceedings, arising out of or related to the Proceedings; (b) attorney’s fees incurred in order to 
interpret, analyze or evaluate that person’s rights and remedies in the Proceedings or under any 
contracts or obligations which are the subject of such Proceeding; and (c) attorneys’ fees to negotiate 
with counsel for any claimant, regardless of whether formal legal action is taken against him or her. 

(c) “Liability” includes obligations to pay a judgment, settlement, penalty, fine (including 
an excise tax assessed to any employee benefit plan), and Expenses actually and reasonably incurred 
with respect to a Proceeding. 

(d) “Not Opposed to the Best Interest of the Corporation” describes the actions of a person 
who acts in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believes to be in the best interest of the 
Corporation or the participants and beneficiaries of an employee benefit plan, as the case may be and 
with such care as an ordinarily prudent person in a like position would use under similar 
circumstances. 

(e) “Other Enterprises” include employee benefit plans. 

(f) “Proceeding” includes any threatened, pending, or complete action, suit, or other type 
of proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, or investigative and whether formal or informal 
to which the person is a party by reason of the fact that he or she is or was a director or officer of the 
Corporation or is now or was Serving at the Request of the Corporation as a director or officer of 
another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or Other Enterprise. 

(g) “Serving at the Request of the Corporation” includes any service as a director or officer 
of the Corporation that imposes duties on such persons, including duties relating to an employee 
benefit plan and its participants or beneficiaries. 

Section 2. Indemnification.  The Corporation shall indemnify to the fullest extent 
permitted by law and shall advance Expenses therefor to any director or officer who was or is a party 
to any Proceeding, against Liability incurred in connection with such Proceeding, including any appeal 
thereof; provided, however, that no indemnification under this Section 2 shall be made: 

(a) If a judgment or other final adjudication established that the person’s actions or 
omissions to act were material to the cause of action adjudicated and such actions or omissions 
constitute either: 

Attachment G2 
8 of 12

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 110 of 126



 
 

9 
4831-6343-4373 
44809/0012 

(1) A violation of the criminal law, unless the director or officer had reasonable 
cause to believe his or her conduct was lawful or had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct 
was unlawful; 

(2) A transaction from which the director or officer derived an improper personal 
benefit; 

(3) In the case of a director, a circumstance under which the Liability provisions of 
Florida Statutes, Section 617.0834 are applicable; or 

(4) Willful misconduct or a conscious disregard for the best interest of the 
Corporation in a Proceeding by or in the right of the Corporation to procure a judgment in its favor. 

(b) Unless authorized in the specific case by either: 

(1) The board of directors by a majority vote of a quorum consisting of directors 
who were not parties to such Proceeding; 

(2) If such a quorum is not obtained or, even if obtained, a majority vote of a 
committee duly designated by the board of directors (in which directors who are parties may 
participate) consisting solely of two or more directors not at the time parties to the Proceeding; 

(3) Independent legal counsel: 

(i) Selected by the board of directors prescribed in subsection 
(b)(1) or the committee prescribed in subsection (b)(2); 

(ii) If a quorum of the directors cannot be obtained for subsection 
(b)(1) and the committee cannot be designated under subsection (b)(2) selected by majority vote of 
the full board of directors (in which directors who are parties may participate). 

(c) Upon determination that: 

(1) In a Proceeding other than an action by, or in the right of, the Corporation, the 
person did not act in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in, or Not Opposed 
to, the Best Interests of the Corporation and, with respect to any criminal action or Proceeding, had 
reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful; 

(2) In a Proceeding by, or in the right of, the Corporation to procure a judgment in 
its favor, the person did not act in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in, 
or Not Opposed to, the Best Interests of the Corporation; provided, further, that the parties described 
in Sections 2(b)(l)(3) shall not authorize any indemnification in such a Proceeding if the person has 
been adjudged to be liable therein.  The foregoing provision shall not preclude or limit indemnification 
under the mandatory indemnification provision of Section 3 or as directed by the court pursuant to 
Section 4; 

(3) For purposes of making the determinations set forth in subsections (c)(1) and 
(c)(2) above, the fact that a Proceeding was terminated by a judgment, order, settlement or conviction 

Attachment G2 
9 of 12

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 111 of 126



 
 

10 
4831-6343-4373 
44809/0012 

or upon plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent shall not, of itself, create a presumption that the 
person did not act in good faith and in a manner which he or she reasonably believed to be in, or Not 
Opposed to, the Best Interests of the Corporation or, with respect to any criminal action or Proceeding, 
that the person has reasonable cause to believe that his or her conduct was unlawful. 

Section 3. Successful Defense.  In all events, and notwithstanding the conditions and 
qualifications set forth in Section 2 above, the Corporation shall indemnify a director or officer who 
has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any Proceeding or in defense of any claim, 
issue, or matter therein, against Expenses actually and reasonably incurred by him or her in connection 
therein. 

Section 4. Court Ordered Indemnification.  Notwithstanding the failure of the Corporation 
to provide indemnification due to a failure to satisfy the conditions of Sections 1(d) or 2(a)(1) and 
despite any contrary determination of the board in the specific case, a director or officer of the 
Corporation who is or was a party to a Proceeding may apply for indemnification or advancement of 
Expenses, or both, to the court conducting the Proceeding, to the circuit court, or to another court of 
competent jurisdiction, and such court may order indemnification and advancement of Expenses, 
including Expenses incurred in seeking court ordered indemnification or advancement of Expenses, 
if it determines that: 

(a) The director or officer is entitled to mandatory indemnification under Section 3, in 
which case the court shall also order the Corporation to pay such person reasonable Expenses incurred 
in obtaining court ordered indemnification or advancement of Expenses; 

(b) The director or officer is entitled to indemnification or advancement of Expenses, or 
both, under Section 2; or 

(c) The directors or officer is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnification or 
advancement of Expenses, or both, in view of all the relevant circumstances, regardless of whether 
such person met the standards of conduct set forth in Sections l(d) or 2(a)(l). 

Section 5. Authorization.  If a judgment or other final adjudication establishes that the 
person’s actions or omissions to act were material to the cause of action adjudicated and such actions 
or omission constitute a violation of the standards set forth in Sections 1(d) and 2(a)(l), then the 
Corporation shall cause one or more of the meetings described in Sections 2(b)(l)-(3) to be held for 
the purpose of determining and authorizing indemnification. 

Section 6. Advancement of Expenses.  Expenses incurred by an officer or director in 
defending a Proceeding may be paid by the Corporation in advance of the final disposition of such 
Proceeding upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of such director or officer to repay such 
amount if he or she is ultimately found not to be entitled to indemnification by the Corporation 
pursuant to this Article V. Expenses incurred by other employees or Agents may be paid in advance 
upon such terms or consideration that the board of directors deems appropriate. 

Section 7. Continuing Indemnification.  Indemnification and advancement of Expenses as 
provided in this Article shall continue as, unless otherwise provided when such indemnification and 

Attachment G2 
10 of 12

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 112 of 126



 
 

11 
4831-6343-4373 
44809/0012 

advancement of Expenses was authorized or ratified, to a person who has ceased to be a director or 
officer and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors and administrators of such person. 

Section 8. Liability Insurance.   The Corporation shall have the power to purchase and 
maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director or officer of the Corporation or 
is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director or officer of another corporation, 
partnership, joint venture, trust, or other enterprise against any liability asserted against him or her 
and incurred by him or her in any such capacity or arising out of his or her status as such, whether or 
not the Corporation would have the power to indemnify him or her against such liability under the 
provisions of this Article V. 

Section 9. Employee and Agents.  The board of directors may authorize indemnification 
or advancement of expenses in favor of other employees or agents upon such terms or conditions as 
the board of directors may deem appropriate under the circumstances, and may enter into agreement 
thereof with such employees and agents. 

Section 10. Indemnification Hereunder in Addition to Other Rights.  The rights of an officer 
or director hereunder shall be in addition to any other rights such person may have under the 
Corporation’s Articles of Incorporation or the Florida General Corporation Act or otherwise, and 
nothing herein shall be deemed to diminish or otherwise restrict such person’s right to indemnification 
under any such other provision.  It is the intent of this Bylaw to provide the maximum indemnification 
possible under the applicable law.  To the extent applicable law or the Articles of Incorporation of the 
Corporation, as in effect on the date hereof or at any time in the future, permit greater indemnification 
than is provided for in this Bylaw, the parties hereto agree that Indemnitee shall enjoy by this 
agreement the greater benefits so afforded by such law or provision of the Articles of Incorporation, 
and this Bylaw and the exceptions to indemnification set forth in Section 2(a), to the extent applicable, 
shall be deemed amended without any further action by the Corporation to grant such greater benefits. 

Section 11. Indemnification to Fullest Extent of Law.  This Article V shall be interpreted 
to permit indemnification to the fullest extent permitted by law.  If any part of this Article shall be 
found to be invalid or ineffective in any action, suit or proceeding, the validity and effect of the 
remaining part thereof shall not be affected.  The provisions of this Article V shall be applicable to all 
Proceedings commenced after the adoption hereof, whether arising from acts or omissions occurring 
before or after its adoption. 

Section 12. Limitations.  In no event shall the Corporation indemnify an officer or director 
against any Liability or advance Expenses arising out of or relating to a Proceeding brought by, on 
behalf of, or for the benefit of, such officer or director against the Corporation. 

ARTICLE VI 
 

Seal 

The corporate seal shall have the name of the Corporation between two concentric circles and the 
words “Corporate Seal 2019 Florida” and the year of incorporation in the center of that circle. 

Attachment G2 
11 of 12

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 113 of 126



 
 

12 
4831-6343-4373 
44809/0012 

ARTICLE VII 
 

Amendment by Directors 

These Bylaws may be repealed or amended, and new bylaws may be adopted, by a majority of 
the board of directors at any meeting thereof, provided, however, that the rights of LCRDA set forth 
herein shall not be amended or terminated without the written approval of LCRDA. 

ARTICLE VIII 
 

Fiscal Year 

The fiscal year of this Corporation shall begin on October 1 and end on September 30. 

ARTICLE IX 
 

Members 

The Corporation shall not have any members. 

The undersigned, being the duly elected and acting Secretary of the Corporation, hereby certifies 
that the foregoing constitute the validly adopted and true Bylaws of the Corporation as of the date set 
forth below. 

 

Dated:   
April Salter, Secretary 
(Corporate Seal) 
 
 

Attachment G2 
12 of 12

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 114 of 126



1 
4826-1463-5909 
44809/0012

INNOVATION PARK TLH, INC. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS ACTION BY CONSENT 

Organizational Action 

The undersigned, being all of the members of the Board of Directors of Innovation Park TLH, 
Inc. (the “Corporation”), hereby consent to the following action by the Board of Directors of the 
Corporation in lieu of an organizational meeting of the Board of Directors pursuant to §617.0821 of 
the Florida Statutes and instruct the Secretary of the Corporation to enter this written consent in the 
minute book of the Corporation: 

1. The Articles of Incorporation of the Corporation as filed with the Florida Department of State
are hereby ratified and approved and the Secretary is instructed to insert in the minute book of the
Corporation the Certificate of Incorporation, including such Articles, having an effective date of
___________, 2019.

2. Bylaws for the government of the Corporation and for the regulation and management of its
affairs, prepared by counsel for the Corporation, are hereby approved and adopted by the Board of
Directors, and the Secretary of the Corporation is instructed to insert a copy of the same in the minute
book of the Corporation immediately following the Certificate of Incorporation.

3. It is hereby acknowledged that the Board of Directors of the Corporation consists of David
Ramsay, Kim Williams and April Salter who were designated as the initial members of the
Corporation’s Board of Directors in the Corporation’s Articles of Incorporation.  The Directors shall
serve one year terms, unless reappointed, but in any event until their successors are elected and
qualified or until their death, resignation, or removal pursuant to the Bylaws of the Corporation.

4. The following officers of the Corporation are elected to serve until the next annual meeting of
the Board of Directors and until their successors are elected and qualified or until their resignation or
removal pursuant to the Bylaws of the Corporation:

President David Ramsay 

Vice President Kim Williams 

Secretary/Treasurer April Salter 

5. A seal consisting of two concentric circles with the words “INNOVATION PARK TLH, INC.”
between the circles and “Corporate Seal 2019 Florida” in the center is hereby adopted as the official
seal of the Corporation and the Secretary is instructed to affix the seal as adopted immediately below
this paragraph.

6. A standard form of banking resolution authorizing the establishment of an open deposit
account with, and the borrowing of money from Hancock Bank is hereby adopted and the Secretary
is instructed to place a copy thereof in the minute book of the Corporation and to furnish an executed

Attachment G3 
1 of 2

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 115 of 126



 
 

2 
4826-1463-5909 
44809/0012 

copy thereof to said bank.  Any and all other resolutions required by the bank in connection with the 
opening and operation of the assets of the Corporation at said bank are authorized.  Such bank 
resolutions will designate who may make withdrawals on behalf of the Corporation and any 
limitations deemed appropriate. 

7. The fiscal year of the Corporation shall end on September 30 of each year, beginning with the 
year ended September 30, 2019. 

The officers of the Corporation are authorized and directed to pay from corporate funds all fees and 
expenses incurred prior to the filing of the Corporation’s Articles of Incorporation with the Secretary 
of State of the State of Florida, including, but not limited to, legal fees, accounting fees, filing fees 
and costs incurred in connection with the incorporation of the Corporation. 

Execution of this document by the undersigned, being all of the members of the Board of Directors, 
and the subsequent insertion of this document in the minute book of the Corporation, waives any 
requirement of a formal meeting of the Board of Directors to conduct the business referred to herein. 

Dated as of the _____ day of ________, 2019. 
 
 
 

  
 
 
____________________________________ 
David Ramsay, Director 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Kim Williams, Director 
 
 
 
___________________________________ 
April Salter, Director 
 
 
 

 

Attachment G3 
2 of 2

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 116 of 126



Incubator Development

• Obtain EDA grant and
secure partner matching
funds

• Hire architect to manage
Design‐Bid‐Build

• Create non‐profit to solicit
additional needed funds
and manage incubator

• Equip the incubator
• Collaborate with
partner/community
programs that can feed the
incubator

• Provide a technology
company focused pre‐
incubation education
component

• Restructure Tech Grant
Program to provide funding
to feed companies into
incubation program

• Develop jointly with
university partners a front
door for private sector
access to university assets

Asset Maximization 
& Readiness 

• Develop a renovation plan
for the park

• Assess new facility needs
within the park

• Develop plan for future
land use including
identifying any Geotech
issues

• Streamline development
process and requirements

• Identify and develop more
service offerings and
amenities

Marketing & Recruitment

• Develop a marketing plan
for the park with novel
approaches and improved
information about park
assets

• Partner with OEV to recruit
private companies to the
park

Partnerships & Collaboration

• Develop a collaboration
plan jointly with the
Tallahassee Airport
Authority board and senior
leaders

• Assess other collaboration
possibilities

Resource Assessment

• Develop a resource
assessment plan

• Identify new
revenues/opportunities and
consider future impact of
lost revenues

• Determine other
options/issues affecting
resources—current and
potential

2019‐2021 Strategic Plan Summary Draft

Attachment H1 
1 of 1

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 117 of 126



Innovation Park Strategic Plan Detail‐DRAFT Including Identified Action Items 
2/7/2019 

Current Mission and Vision Statements: 

Mission Statement 
The mission of the LCRDA is to work in affiliation with FSU, FAMU, and TCC, along with the City, County and 

private sector leaders, to promote our region’s research and development assets, and to foster the attraction, 

startup and growth of private innovative companies that create high wage jobs in Leon County. 

Vision Statement 
The LCRDA will be an economic driver for the community through the creation of vibrant programs, a 

collaborative environment, and inviting state of the art spaces where creative people want to live, work, and 

play.  

Goals, Strategic Issues, Strategies, Action Items: 

1) Goal: Construct and equip the incubator by December 31, 2020 and have 50% occupied by December 31,

2021

a) Construct, equip and open the incubator

i) Obtain EDA grant and secure partner matching funds

ii) Hire architect to manage Design‐Bid‐Build

(1) Consider 2nd floor LCRDA offices

iii) Create non‐profit to solicit additional needed funds and manage incubator

(1) Develop board, policies, procedures,

(2) Develop marketing plan

(3) Recruit support service providers

(4) Recruit mentor network

(5) Identify and assess KPI(s) currently used by incubator programs/parks

(6) Identify peer partners (i.e. existing parks with the incubator model) in the ecosystem who can

be engaged throughout the planning and implementation phase as a resource

iv) Equip the incubator

(1) Identify equipment needs

(2) Solicit donations/funding to purchase

b) Create new/restructured programs

i) Collaborate with partner/community programs that can feed the incubator

ii) Provide a technology company focused pre‐incubation education component

iii) Restructure Tech Grant Program to provide funding to feed companies into incubation program

iv) Develop jointly with university partners a front door for private sector access to university assets

2) Goal: Asset Maximization & Readiness

a) Maximize the value of park assets

i) Develop a renovation plan for the park

(1) Make minimal renovations quickly to Collins Building to relocate LCRDA offices and start

incubation programs, leased offices, co‐working space, classroom, meeting rooms, shared

kitchen, shared lab before final building is ready

(2) RFI for Knight Building to identify viable food, co‐working space, meeting space and other

amenity options (need engineering study)

(3) Update building facades

Attachment H2 
1 of 2

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 118 of 126



Innovation Park Strategic Plan Detail‐DRAFT Including Identified Action Items 
2/7/2019 

(4) Update Morgan building carpet, paint, ceiling tiles 

ii) Assess new facility needs within the park 

(1) Conference facility for small or large (50+) meetings/event space 

(2) Covered pavilion on Knight site 
(3) “We‐live” housing  

(4) Pad‐ready sites   
(5) Spec building  

iii) Develop plan for future land use including identifying any Geotech issues 
b) Get park assets ready to market 

i) Streamline development process and requirements 

(1) Develop clear park admission/selection criteria 

(2) Align C&R and PUD 
(3) Document development process for both LCRDA and City requirements 

(4) Develop expedited site review process by Innovation Park DRC   

(5) Formalize agreement with universities regarding availability of their leased land for private 

company development 

ii) Identify and develop more service offerings and amenities   

(1) Networking events 
(2) More frequent Tech Topics 

(3) Develop affinity programs with area amenities like golf, pool, tennis, libraries, career center 

3) Goal: Attract at least 3 new targeted private companies to expand/relocate to Innovation Park by December 

31, 2021. 

a) Develop a marketing plan for the park with novel approaches and improved information about park 

assets 

i) Action Items: 

(1) Develop clear targets which increase private sector mix in the park including both innovative 

and stable companies which contribute to the collaborative environment 

(2) Document research and development assets in the park 

(3) Develop events that specifically target potential tenants/research park members 

(4) Identify LCRDA incentive toolbox/parameters (discounted land, office leases, improvement 

financing) 

(5) Understand and promote State & Local incentives on our website 

(6) Coordinate site inventory with OEV 
b) Partner with OEV to recruit private companies to the park 

4) Goal: Develop new partnerships and collaborations and strengthen current partner relationships 

a) Develop a collaboration plan jointly with the Tallahassee Airport Authority board and senior leaders 

i) Action Items: 

(1) Get a LCRDA board member on TLH advisory board, and/or; 

(2) Form a monthly meeting of key stakeholders to discuss (see Dailey comments) 

(3) Is there an opportunity for a joint venture? 
b) Assess other collaboration possibilities 

5) Goal: Develop a resource assessment plan 

a) Identify new revenues/opportunities and consider future impact of lost revenues 

b) Determine other options/issues affecting resources—current and potential 

Attachment H2 
2 of 2

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 119 of 126



Executive Director Board Report‐ February 2019 

EDA Incubator Grant Status:  The grant application has been submitted and a decision is expected at 

any time. We last communicated with the EDA rep on January 28th, following the ending of the federal 

government shutdown. We were advised that notification letters are being prepared but could not be 

given any further details. We continue to work with staff from the National Park Service Southeast 

Archeological Center (SEAC) following their return from the shutdown. We communicated on January 

29th, and they are reaching out to Florida’s State Historic Preservation Officer (SHPO) to get the status of 

the report the SHPO staff was preparing. EDA has been kept apprised of progress.  

Strategic Planning: See board agenda item. 

501 (c)(3) Organization creation:  See board agenda item. 

Collins Building:  See board agenda item.  

Central Pond Trail: Surveying and a 100% design draft is complete. The county experienced some Permit 

issues which have put us behind about a month. I am pressing to get them to stay on schedule, but we 

will likely be delayed a few weeks. Upon receipt of permits, they will then go to bid with construction 

beginning about 4 weeks later.  Assuming all goes according to plan, we are expecting 30 days to 

construct. The due date per the contract is April 6th.  

Leasing:  FSU IT Services has extended its lease two more months resulting in approximately $36,000 in 

additional revenue. Axion Technologies has signed a one‐year lease for the lab in the Morgan building 

replacing tenant Painter Magnetics.  Nhu Energy has added another office to their lease in the Knight 

Building which is now fully leased. FSU ISPA is extending its single office lease in the Morgan building for 

one year.  

Audit Committee: The committee last met on October 29th. The audit is substantially complete including 

the GASB 68 information from the State for FRS reporting. We are finalizing the draft report and 

Management Discussion and Analysis. No issues with the audit have been reported to me. We expect to 

hold the final Audit Committee meeting in March with final approval requested from the Board at its 

April meeting. Chair Ramsay has appointed Paul Dean to Chair the Audit Committee upon Dustin Daniels 

withdrawal from the Board.  

Slip and Fall Claim: The Authority, along with Talcor, received a demand letter regarding an alleged slip 

and fall in a Fuqua Atrium restroom. An incident report was taken by Talcor at the time of the alleged 

event, and we provided that information to our insurance carrier who is following up with the claim.  No 

claim for an amount of damages has been received. Our premises liability coverage has zero deductible. 

General Counsel has been consulted and is handling all communication with the claimant’s counsel.  

Attachment I1 
1 of 2

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 120 of 126



   

Other Activities: 

 New City Commissioner briefings with Mayor Dailey, Jeremy Matlow, Dianne Williams‐Cox 

 Attended Danfoss Turbocor ground‐breaking ceremony 

 Executed IBR 19‐01 HVAC Preventative Maintenance and Repair, pre‐bid meetings, Q&A, 
evaluation 

 Executive Committee meeting 

 Meeting with Doolittle Institute/Air Force Research Lab re: tech transfer/innovation programs 

 Meeting with Mag Corp re: its business plans 

 Tour of Divvy Up Socks new manufacturing facility 

 Meeting with Scott Balog from TCC Innovation Center re: collaboration 

 Attended Intergovernmental Agency Meeting 

 Work with counsel on Food Truck License Agreement issues/concerns 

 Met with FSU Architect regarding FSU projects in the pipeline 

 Completed Director of Entrepreneurship’s annual employment evaluation 

 Vacation! 
 

Coming Up: 

 Strategic Plan Execution/Implementation Planning 

 EDA Grant Follow Up/Execution (if approved) 

 RFP 19‐02 Collins Building Renovation and Repair execution (if approved) 

 Non‐profit setup (if approved) 

 Development Review Committee: FSU IT Services Parking and Sidewalk 

 Outreach to Democrat/WFSU 

 Attend FSU Research Foundation Innovators Reception 

 Audit Committee Meeting 

 Executive Committee Meeting 

 Commissioner Elaine Bryant Briefing 

 Tech Grant Program support 
 

 

Attachment I1 
2 of 2

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 121 of 126



Director of Entrepreneurship Report – Jan. 2019 

 Waiting for news on the $10.2M EDA grant
 I-Corps Class II begins February 13th

o University of Alabama NSF I-Corps Southern Node instructors
o Class time and effort counted under the REACH grant

 Working with TCC and FAMU to bring a Cyber Defense talk to Tallahassee March 13th

 SBIR/STTR program - REACH grant with FAMU
o Third seminar slated for March 27th

o A second, more advanced SBIR/STTR seminar is in the works
 EEP Class 16 starts April 9th

o Three people signed up so far
o Class time and effort counted under the REACH grant

 Collaboration Efforts
o Working with JMSE, DOMI, FAMU and TCC on a joint mentor database
o Pitch Distilled event with DOMI and Wired Magazine
o FSU and FAMU distributed the I-Corps promotional material

 Interviewed with WCTV on Innovation Park programs, and featuring NeuroJungle

Attachment I2 
1 of 1

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 122 of 126



Director of Programs and Communications Report- BOG 2.7.19 

TechTopics 
-Scheduled for March 6 at MagLab
-Speaker lineup in progress (Modifying due to Government Shutdown Uncertainty)

E-Club
-Planning to have an event this Spring

EEP 
-First day of class will be Tuesday, April 9th

-Giving spots to all Techgrant finalists, which will be announced on March 27th

-2 Applicants so far, with others interested

TechGrant 
-Application was updated and available online Jan. 7, Orientation- Feb. 4th
-Finalists will need to go through EEP which will begin April 9th
-Applications due March 4 at 11:59Pm
-Brainstorming Meeting
-MagLab partnership- 2 min. promo video for Innovation Park + 2 TechGrant Winner Updates
(NeuroJungle and ?)
-Working on sponsorships (Materials are ready)- OEV has agreed to sposor
-Creating a list of Judges
-Press Release sent out to WTXL, WFSU, Tallahassee Democrat and WCTV.

Science Weekend/ MagLab Open House 
-Taking place on February 23rd

-Innovation Park is sponsoring the event and helping
-Specifically coordinating the shuttle, which will transport people from MagLab to
College of Engineering and down to HPMI/CAPS/AME

Monthly Newsletters 
-Creating Monthly public newsletter and posting to website

Social Media/ SEO 
-Continuing with the creation of month social media calendars.  Posts are being scheduled for
Facebook/Twitter, and weekly posting on Instagram and Linkedin.
Social Media Stats (changes since August meeting): Facebook- 237 (+5), Twitter- 432 (+2),
Instagram- 339 (+25),  Linkedin- 32 (+2)

Website 
-Continuing to update when needed with dates/ other information

Other 
 Exhibited at Experience TLH on January 12th.  Great event with positive response and

swag was handed out
 Strategy Plan created for if/when EDA grant information comes to fruition.

Attachment I3 
1 of 1

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 123 of 126



NAI Talcor Property Manager’s Report to the 
Leon County R&D Authority Board of Governors 

11/28/2018‐1/29/2019 

1 

Occupancy: 

Building 
Leasable 

Square Feet 
Vacant 

Square Feet  % Vacant 

Phipps  14,661  0  0% 

Morgan  23,240  985  5% 

Johnson  28,385  0  0% 

Collins  24,900  22,974  92% 

Knight  3,060  0  0% 

Total  94,246  23,959  25% 

Non‐Routine Repairs & Maintenance: 

Building 
Completed Since Last 

Report  In Process  Deferred/To Do 

Phipps   Install rear door lock.  Install new door handle on
exterior door.

 The irrigation system is not
connected and has no
backflow.

Morgan   Changed out one vents
located in room 225D.

 Paint ceiling from prior
roof leak in the
Southwest stairwell.

Maintenance has been
balancing the building
keeping the temperatures
warm for tenants.

 Additional touch up paint in
stairwells.

 Common areas ‐ Carpet
cleaning and the interior of
entrance ways.

Johnson   Replace light fixture in
womens second floor
restroom.

 HVAC # 14 compressor
replaced.

 Handicap button to
entrance doors was
repaired.

 Missing up light on right side
of Johnson building.

 Duct detectors need
replacement.

 None

Collins   Replaced compressor in
HVAC unit 3.

 Re‐set damaged crepe
myrtle to the rear of the
building.

 Maintenance continues to
balance the HVAC in the
building.

 Pending renovation: ceiling
tiles need replaced

 One full HVAC complete
system change out.

Knight   Repair womens and
men’s toilets.

 All screens in need of
replacement.

 Back deck in need of repair.
Wood rot is visible and deck
needs paint.

 Exterior paint

 Interior paint of common
areas.

Attachment I4 
1 of 3

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 124 of 126



NAI Talcor Property Manager’s Report to the 
Leon County R&D Authority Board of Governors 

11/28/2018‐1/29/2019 

2 
 

Building 
Completed Since Last 

Report  In Process  Deferred/To Do 

Fuqua   Paint interior door of 
elevator. Cleaned 
chrome. 
 

 
 

 None 
 

 

  Irrigation repair to the flower 
beds in the atrium areas.  

 Planting of flowers in flower 
beds to be planted once 
irrigation repairs have been 
completed in the spring. 

Common 
 
 

 Cleaning signs around 
the park.  

 Maintenance continues to 
straighten and clean all signs. 
Some signs are being hit by 
trucks or busses causing them 
to lean, bending the metal 
sign posts.  

 Paint sign poles to 
“Innovation Park” signs once 
new sign is installed. 

 Install “No Fishing” signs 
around the central pond. 

 Irrigation repairs around 
entrance monument signs. 

 Plants and flowers around 
entrance monument signs.  
 
 

 

Accounts Receivable Past Due as of Report Date (30+days): 

Tenant  Invoice Date 
Invoice 
Amount 

Last Contact 
Date 

Tenant Response/Date to be 
Paid/Comments 

FSU‐IT  10/18,11/18, 
12/18,1/18 
 

73,421.80 
 

1/24,1/28, 
1/29. 
 

FSU has confirmed they owe and has issues 
a PO for the entire past due and current 
amount due.  

 

Tenant Issues Encountered, Status of Other Outstanding Issues, Contract Procurements, Projects, 

Accounting issues, etc.: 

1. The HVAC maintenance contract was bid out. The lowest bidder was Engineered Cooling 

Services. Engineered Cooling Services has several Liebert certified technicians. Which is helpful 

due to the fact that National Park Service has several in their collection room.  

2. 3‐year pressure testing on the fire sprinkler system for National Park Service will be performed 

beginning of February.  

3. 3 HVAC smoke detectors will be replaced in February as well.  

4. A new lease was signed for 534 sq. feet of office space located in the Morgan building.  

Management is working on the following projects:  

1. National Park Service has requested that their carpet be replaced as per their lease. 

Management is in the process of acquiring bids for replacement.  

Attachment I4 
2 of 3

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 125 of 126



NAI Talcor Property Manager’s Report to the 
Leon County R&D Authority Board of Governors 

11/28/2018‐1/29/2019 

3 
 

2. FDOT, located in the Phipps building is requesting that their building be repainted per their lease 

as well. Management has acquired three bids and has presented them to the Executive Director, 

Ron Miller.  

3. The pole mounted entrance signs located on Potsdamer and Levy have been updated.  

 

 
 

 

  

Attachment I4 
3 of 3

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting, February 7, 2019 

Page 126 of 126


	2019-02-07 BOG Agenda
	A- 2018-12-06 DRAFT BoG meeting mins
	B- 2019-01-28 Exec Comm REPORT
	C- 2019-02-07 Treasurers Report
	D1- Investment Rollforward 2018-11
	D2- Investment Rollforward 2018-12
	E1- IBR 19-01 Bid Summary
	E2- IBR 19-01 HVAC PM and Repair Services Agreement - Engineered Cooling Services Inc
	E3- IBR 19-01 Engineered Cooling Services
	E4- IBR 19-01 Tony Kelly Heating & Air Conditioning wo agreement
	F1- RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation RFP DRAFT
	F2- RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation Contract Sample
	F3- RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation Public Notice
	G1- IP TLH Articles of Incorporation
	G2- IP TLH Bylaws
	G3- IP TLH Organizational Action
	H1- 2019-2021 Strategic Plan Summary Draft
	H2- 2019-2021 Strategic Plan Outline Draft
	I1- 2019-02 Executive Director Report
	I2- Director of Entrepreneurship Report - Jan. 2019
	I3- Director of Programs and Communications Report- 2.19
	I4- PM REPORT Dec 2018 -Jan 2019



